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Directors’ report

The Directors submit their report on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022,

Incorporation and tegistered offices
Guif General Investments Co. (P.S.C) (the “Company”) is incotporated under Emiri Decree No. 2/73 dated
27 July 1973 as a Public Shareholding Company. The duration of the Company is ninety nine years

commencing from the date of issuance of the above Emiri Decree. The registered address of the Company is
P. O. Box 22588, Dubai, United Arab Emirates. The Company is listed on the Dubai Financial Matket.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are to act as a real estate agent, manufacturing, real estate development,
writing of insurance of all types, hospitality and other services.

Financial position and results

The financial position and results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Directors

The following wete the Directors of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022:

Mt. Abdalla Juma Majid Al Sari Chairman

Mr. Majid Abdalla Juma Al Sari Deputy Chairman

Mr. Hamad Saif Hamad Al Mheiri Director

Mr. Mohamed Ali Abdalla Al Sari Director
Auditors

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by
Grant Thomton UAE and, being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment for the year ended 31

December 2023.

By order of the Board of Directors.

S——"

Chairman
22 March 2023



GrantThornton

Grant Thornton Audit and
Accounting Limited
(Dubai Branch)

The Offices 5

Level 3

Office 302, 303
One Central, DWTC
Dubai, UAE

P.O. Box 1620
T+971 4 388 9925
F+971 4 388 9915

www.grantthornton.ae

Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C)
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which comptise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section,
the accompanying consolidated financial statements present faitly, in all material respects, the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022, and its consolidated financial petformance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRSs).
Basis for Qualified Opinion

Duting the year, interest on bortowings of the Group aggregates to an amount of AED 106 million (2021:
AED 94.5 million). The interest cost has not been recorded in the consolidated financial statements since
1 January 2020. Had these interest been recognised in the consolidated financial statements for the year,
the Group’s finance costs and loss for the year would have increased by AED 106 million and the
accumulated losses, net curtent liabilities and total liabilities of the Group would have increased by AED
323 million.

During the year, the Group settled AED 187 million of its borrowing by disposing its investments in shares
and property which was pledged to the bank. However, we were unable to obtain sufficient approptate
audit evidence to confirm that the borrowings had been reduced by the aforementioned amount.
Consequently, we were unable to determine whether any adjustments to the borrowing were necessary.

We draw attention to note 31 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the group has
several ongoing litigations initiated by creditors. No provision has been recorded against these litigations
as the matter is sub judice. We were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to determine the
impact of these litigations and if any adjustments were necessary in relation to the borrowings.

We draw attention to note 2 of the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Group’s
cutrent liabilities exceeded its current assets by AED 2,720 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: AED
2,908 million). Furthermore, the group has defaulted on its payment obligations to creditors and several
creditors have initiated legal proceedings against the group. These events and conditions indicate that a
material uncertainty exists that cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholdets of Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Basis for Qualified Opinion (continued)

We dtaw attention to note 36 to the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that audited financial
statements were not available for certain associates with a carrying amount of AED 66 million as of 31
December 2022 (2021: AED 66 million). Due to the unavailability of the required information, we were
unable to determine whether any adjustment to this amount was necessaty.

Emphasis of matter

We draw attention to note 7 to the consolidated financial statements which discloses information on assets
that are held by a related party for the beneficial interest of the Company. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Anditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“IESBA Code”), together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the United Arab Emirates, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the cutrent petiod. These mattets were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter descrbed in
the basés for qualified opinion and enphasis of matter section section, we have determined the mattets described
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

i) Valuation of investment properties and properties held for development and sale

The Group’s investment properties portfolio is carried at AED 2,220 million and properties held for
development and sale cartied at AED 185 million. The Group engaged professionally qualified external
valuers to fair value its investment properties. The valuers performed their work in accordance with the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS') Valuatdon Global Standards (2017 Edition). The fair value
definition as per RICS Valuation Standards, adopted by the external valuers, complies with the fair value
definition under IFRS. The valuation of the portfolio is a significant judgement area and is undetpinned by
a number of assumptions. The existence of significant estimation uncertainty warrants specific audit focus
in this area as any ertor in determining the fair value, could have a matetial impact on the value of the
Group’s investment properties and the fair value gain or loss recognised in respect of these investment
properties.

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

® We assessed the competence, independence and integrity of the external valuers to determine whether
there were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may have imposed scope limitations
on their wotk;

® We obtained the external valuation reports for all properties valued by the valuers and assessed the
valuation approach used by the valuer in determining the fair value of the properties;
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Key Audit Matters (continued)
i) Valuation of investment properties and properties held for development and sale
(continued)

® We have tested on a sample basis whether property specific data supplied to the external valuers by
management reflected the underlying property records; and

® Based on the outcome of our evaluation, we assessed the adequacy of the disclosure in the consolidated
financial statements.

ii) Valuation of trade and insurance receivables

The Group has trade and insurance receivables that are overdue and not impaired (as disclosed in note 14
to these consolidated financial statements). The key associated fisk is the tecoverability of receivables.
Management’s telated allowance for expected credit losses (ECL) is subjective and is influenced by
assumptions concerning the probability of default and probable losses in the event of default.

Our audit procedures, among others, included:

® We obtained an understanding of the Group’s process for estimating ECL and assessed the
appropriateness of ECL methodology against the requirements of IFRS 9;

® We assessed the reasonableness of managements’ key assumptions and judgements made in
determining the allowance for ECL, segmenting of receivables and mactoeconomic factors; and

® We tested the key inputs of model such as those used to calculate the likelihood of default and the
subsequent loss on default, by comparing to historical data. We also assessed reasonableness of forward-
looking factors used by the Group by corroborating with publicly available information.

iii) Valuation of insurance contract liabilities

The estimation of liabilities atising from insurance contracts such as unearned premium teserve, outstanding
claims resetve, incurred but not reported reserve, unallocated loss adjustment expense reserve and mathematical
reserve, as disclosed in note 15 to these financial statements, involves a significant degree of judgement. These
liabilities are based on the pattern of risk distributions over coverage petiod, the best-estimated ultimate cost of all
claims incurred but not settled at a given date, whether reported or not, together with the related claims handling
costs, mortality and persistency (including consideration of policyholder behaviot). Actuatial computations have
been used to determine these provisions. Undetlying these computations ate a number of explicit or implicit

assumptions relating to the expected settlement amount and settlement patterns of claims. Since the determination
of such a provision requires the expertise of an external valuation expert who incorporates significant assumptions,
judgements and estimations, the valuation of these liabilities was significant to our audit.

We assessed management’s calculations of the technical reserves by petforming the following procedures:
®  Understood the governance process in place to determine the insurance contract liabilities.

¢ Tested the underlying company data to source documentation on sample basis;

®  Evaluated competence, capabilities and objectivity of management’s actuarial specialist;

® Using our actuartal specialist team membets, we applied our industry knowledge and experience, and
compated the methodology, models and assumptions used against recognised actuarial practices; and

¢ Using our actuarial specialist team members, we checked the mathematical accuracy of the methodology
applied on selected classes of business, particularly focusing on the largest and most uncertain reserves.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Other information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the Ditectors’
report, which we obtained ptior to the date of this auditor’s repott.

Qur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to tead the other
information identified above and, in doing so consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise
appeats to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we ate requited to repott that fact. We have nothing to teport in this regard.

When we read the Directors’ Report, if we conclude that thete is a material misstatement therein, we are
tequired to communicate the matter to those charged with governance and take appropriate actions in
accordance with ISAs.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair ptresentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with IFRS, and their preparation in compliance with the applicable provisions of
the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or etror.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concetn, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using
the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group ot to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance ate responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditots’ teport
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C)

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and apptropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The fisk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from errot, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, ot the override of internal control.

® QObtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the putpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

® Conclude on the approptiateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events ot
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify out opinion. Our conclusions atre based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, futute events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

® Evaluate the overall ptesentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the undetlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

® Obtain sufficient approptiate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities and
business activities within the Gtoup to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supetvision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our andit opinion

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requitements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related

safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those mattets that
wete of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
ate therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
tegulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C)

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021, we report that:

)

vi)

vi)

L /
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Dr. Osama El-Bakry

we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purposes of
our audit;

the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all matetial respects, with
the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021;

the Group has maintained proper books of accounts;

the financial information included in the Directors’ report, in so far as it relates to these consolidated
financial statements, is consistent with the books of accounts of the Group;

other than those disclosed in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has not
putchased any shares and has not made any social contributions during the year ended 31 December

2022,

note 13 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party transactions and the
terms under which they were conducted; and

based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to out attention
which causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year ended
31 December 2022 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021 ot in
respect of the Group, its Articles of Association, which would matetially affect its activities or its
consolidated financial position as at 31 December 2022.

DUBAI-UAE.

Registration No: 935
Dubai, United Arab Emirates

22 March 2023



Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December 2022

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Goodwill

Investments in associates
Investments in securities
Trade and other receivables

Current assets

Propetties held for development and sale
Inventories

Due from related patties

Ttade and other receivables

Reinsurance contract assets

Investments in securities

Cash in hand and at banks

TOTAL ASSETS

Notes

2022 2021
AED 000 AED "000
389,838 484,962
2,220,466 2,525,081
4,000 11,500
165,974 184,839
71,103 74,682
3,948 23,052
2,855,329 3,304,116
184,855 174,102
19,766 40,819
5,844 10,288
420,238 530,408
246,344 258,689
100,510 101,868
307,125 310,288
1,284,682 1,426,462
4,140,011 4,730,578

The accompanying notes 1 to 37 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gulif General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Notes AED 000 AED 000
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Shate capital 17 1,791,333 1,791,333
Legal reserve 18 49,645 49,645
Additional resetve 18 7,068 7,068
Asset revaluation surplus 18 76,315 120,337
Cumulative change in fair value of investments measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income (2,716) 577
Accumulated losses (1,969,934) (1,787,975)
Eqpuity attributable to owners of Parent Company (48,289) 180,985
Non-controlling int_erests : . 35 170,234 200,427
TOTAL EQUITY 121,945 381,412
LIABILITIES
Non-current
Provision for employees” end of service benefits 19 13,155 15,005
Curtent
Due to related parties 13 354,390 436,249
Insurance conteact liabilities 15 573,184 512,308
Borrowings 20 2,048,405 2,295.240
Trade and other payables 21 1,027,459 1,081,738
Lease liabilities 1,473 8,626
‘ 4,004,911 1,334,161
TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,018,066 4,349,166
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 4,140,011 4730378

The consolidated financial statements including comparatives were authorised for issue by and on behalf of
the Board of Directors on 22 March 2023

Abdalla Jama Majid Al Sari
Chairman

The accompanying notes 1 to 37 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Administrative and general expenses
Selling and distribution expenses
Other income

Investment propetties (loss) / income — net
Share of loss in associates

Provision for expected ctedit loss
Impairment of goodwill
Investment loss — net

Finance income

Finance cost

Loss for the year

Loss attributable to:

Owmners of Parent Company
Non-controlling interests

Loss per share - Basic and Diluted (AED fils per share)

The accompanying notes 1 to 37 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Notes

22
23

24

20
25
9
32
8
26
27
28

29

2022 2021
AED *000 AED *000
419,330 455,498
(338,850) (408,925)
80,480 46,573
(135,474) (107,022)
(1,476) (4,405)
114,871 4,987
(29,628) 9,095
(18,865) (20,795)
(148,246) -
(7,500) -
(26,425) (28,909)
3,453 4,585
(43,326) (31,457)
(212,136) (127,348)
(181,950) (92,686)
(30,186) (34,662)
(212,136) (127,348)
(10.16) (.17)
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Notes AED 000 AED 000
Loss for the year (212,136) (127,348)
Other comprehensive income
Items thar will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Change in fair value of investments in securities - net (FVITOCI) 10 (3,302) 5,458
(Loss) / income on revaluation of land and buildings 6 (44,029) 88,037
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (47,331) 93,495
Total comprehensive loss for the year (259,467) (33,853)
Total conprebensive loss attributable fo:
Owners of Parent Company (229,274) (4,638)
Non-controlling interests (30,193) (29,215)
Total comprehensive loss for the year (259,467) (33,853)

The accompanying notes 1 to 37 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2022

Cash flows from operating activities
Loss for the yeat

Adjustments for:

Depreciation

Loss on sale of investment properties

Fair value (gain)/loss on investment propetties

Share of loss in associates

Change in fair value of investments measured at fair value
through profit ot loss

Provision /(reversal) of employees’ end of service benefits

{(Gain) / loss on sale of investments in securities

Allowance for ECL

Impaitment of goodwill

Loss of disposal of equity interest in an associate

Provision for inventory

Interest on lease liability

Finance income

Finance costs

Operating profit / (loss) before working capital changes

Changes in trade and other receivables

Changes in properties held for development and sale
Changes in inventories 7

Changes in due from/due to related parties

Changes in reinsurance contract assets

Changes in insurance contract liabilities

Changes in trade and other payables

Employees’ end of setvice benefits paid
Ditectors' fees paid
Net cash generated from /(used in) operating activities

2022 2021

Notes  AED ’000 AED *000
(212,136) (127,348)

6 11,532 13,915
25 93,400 10,297
7 (63,772) (19,392)
9 18,865 20,795
10 (967) (5,925)
19 1,158 (5,794)
26 (350) 172
148,246 -

7500 .

26 . 32,891
12 7,328 .
111 448

27 (3,453) (4,585)
28 43,326 31,457
50,788 (53,069)

12,784 30,573

(10,753) (16)

13,725 21,404

(77,415) 39,394

12,345 (37,646)

60,876 (2,559)

(54,279) (71,301)

8,071 (73,220)

19 (3,008) 2,517)
- (1,535)

5,063 77,272)

The accompanying notes 1 to 37 ate an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Consolidated statement of cash flows (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Notes AED *000 AED 000

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of propetty, plant and equipment 6 (3,286) (2,014
Putchase of investments in securities 10 (2,750) (29,227)
Proceeds from sale of investments in securities 5,702 13,768
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 69 7,955
Proceeds from sale of investment properties 7 275,300 68,900
Proceeds from disposal of equity interest in an associate 9 - 19,200
Finance income 27 3,453 4.585
Net cash generated from investing activities 278,488 83,167

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividend received 1,213 -
Net movement in borrowings (246,835) (55,818)
Payment of lease liability (2,005) (4,755)
Finance costs 28 (43,326) (31,457)
Net cash used in financing activities (290,953) (92,030)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (7,402) (86,135)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 155,482 241,617
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 16 148,080 155,482

The accompanying notes 1 to 37 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

1 Reporting entity

Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) (the “Company”) is incorporated under Emiri Decree No. 2/73 dated
27 July 1973 as a Public Shareholding Company. The duration of the Company is ninety nine years
commencing from the date of issuance of the above Emiti Dectee. The registered address of the Company
is P. O. Box 22588, Dubai, United Arab Emirates. The Company is listed on the Dubai Financial Market.

These consolidated financial statements present the financial position and results of operations of the Company
and its subsidiaties (collectively refetred to as the “Gtoup”) and the Group’s interest in associates (tefer to notes
2 and 9).

'The principal activities of the Group ate to act as a real estate agent, manufacturing, real estate development,
writing of insurance of all types, hospitality and other services.

The Company is a subsidiaty of Investment Group (Pvt) Limited, a company registered in UAE.

As of 2 January 2023, the Company is subject to compliance with UAE Federal Law No. 32 of 2021, which
replaces UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the applicable laws and regulations, including UAE Federal Law No. (32) of 2021. The
Shareholders of the Company are cutrently in the process of amending the statutory documents, to reflect
the changes required due to application of the UAE Federal law No. (32) of 2021.

On 31 January 2022, the UAE Ministry of Finance announced the introduction of a 9% Federal Corporate
Tax rate effective for fiscal years commencing on or after 1 June 2023. There is no impact of this
announcement on the financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

2 Basis of preparation

Going concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis notwithstanding the
fact that the Group has incurred a net loss of AED 212 million (2021: loss of AED 127 million), current
liabilities exceeding cutrent assets by AED 2,720 million (2021: AED 2,908 million) and accumulated losses
of AED 1,970 million (2021: AED 1,788 million) as at that date. The continuation of the Group’s operations
is dependent upon future profitable operations and the ability of the Group to generate sufficient cash flows
from operations and sale of investments and properties to meet its future obligations. Also refer to note 4.

Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as issued by International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB") and
applicable requirements of U.A.E Federal Law (32) of 2021.

Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except in respect of
certain property, plant and equipment, investment properties and investments in matketable equity
securities which are stated at their fair values.

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements ate presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams (AED), which is
the Group’s functional cutrency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise
indicated.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements comptise a consolidation of the audited financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries on a line-by-line basis together with the Group's interest in the net assets of
its associates. For a list of the subsidiaries and associates refer the below and note 9 respectively.

Business combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when control is transferred
to the Group. The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the
identifiable net assets acquited. Any goodwill that atises is tested annually for impaitment. Any gain on a
bargain putchase is recognised in profit ot loss immediately. Transaction costs are expensed as incutred,
except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. The consideration transferred does not include
amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such amounts are generally recognised in
the profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration is measuted at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to pay
contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial insttument is classified as equity, then it is
not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration are recognised in the profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entites controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or
has tights to, variable teturns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries ate included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date on which control commences until the date on which control ceases.

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 are as follows:

Proportion Proportion

Place of of ownership of ownership
Name of the subsidiaries incorporation (%) (%) Principal activities
2022 2021
Al-Sagr National Insurance Co. Writing of insurance of
(PSC) U.AE. - 50 50 all types.
TJ(TJEI_?; cls Management U.AE. 51 51 Hotels management.
Time Oak Hotel & Suites L.L.C U.A.E. 51 51 Hospitality.
Oil Lab & Matine Sutveyots Co. Marine inspection,
LL.C. testing of petroleum
U.AE. 50 50 products.
Dubai Al Ahlia Quick Transport Transportation of
L.L.C. U.AE. 50 50 general materials by
trucks.
Acorn Industries Co. LL.C. U.AE. 50 50 Vehicle body

manufacturing, steel,
structure parts.

Certain percentage of investment in Al Sagr National Insurance Co. (PSC) is registered in the name of related
parties in trust and for the benefit of the Company. Certain percentage of investments in 100% owned
subsidiaties are held by the Company through nominee arrangements.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 Basis of preparation (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Subsidiaries (continued)

During the year, the Group has liquidated the following subsidiaries:
Proportion  Proportion

of of
Place of ownership  ownership
Name of the subsidiaries incorporation (%) (%) Principal activities
2022 2021
Concept Piping Systems Hptaeing ang
UAE - 100 trading of plastic

Industries LL.C
goods.

Non-controlling interests (INCI)

NCI are measuted at their proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets at the date of
acquisition.

Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions.

Loss of control

When the Group loses control ovet a subsidiaty, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary,
and any related NCI and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the profit
or loss. Any interest tetained in the former subsidiary is measuted at fair value when control is lost.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intta-group balances, transactions and any unrealised income and expenses atising from intra-group
transactions, ate eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investees are
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Interests in associates

Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
ovet the financial and operating policies.

Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are initially recognised at cost, which
includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated financial statements include the
Gtoup’s shate of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of associates, until the date on which
significant influence ceases.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investments in
associates are impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the trecovetrable amount of the associate and its catrying value and recognises the amount in the
consolidated income statement.

The details of significant associates are as follows:

Name of the associates Place of Owmership (%)
incorporation 2022 2021
Arab Real Estate Development P.S.C. (Arab Corp) Jordan 30.8 30.8
Ghadah General Trading and Contracting Co. L.L.C.
(Khalid Mustafa Karam Sons & Partners) Kuwait 38.0 38.0
Al Sagt Cooperative Insurance Company Saudi Arabia 20.0 20.0
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2 Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are effective in 2022

The following relevant standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards were issued by the
IASB:

Standard number Title Effective date
IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework (Amendments to 1 January 2022
IFRS 3
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds before 1 January 2022
Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 16)
Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022
IAS 37 (Amendments to IAS 37)
IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS ~ Annual Imptovements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020 1 January 2022
16 and IAS 41

These standards have been adopted by the Group and did not have a material impact on these consolidated
financial statements.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been adopted early by the Group

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023
with eatlier application permitted as long as IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting petiod beginning on or after 1 January 2023 with
eatlier application permitted as long as IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied)

The scope of IFRS 17 for the Company is materially consistent with that of IFRS 4. Investment contracts
will be measured under IFRS 9. IFRS 17 requires that contracts are divided into groups for the purposes of
recognition and measurement. Portfolios of contracts are identified by grouping together contracts which
have similar risks and are managed togethet, These groups are then further divided into groups based on
their expected profitability.

Contracts which are onerous at inception cannot be grouped with contracts which are profitable at
inception. Contracts which are issued more than one year apart are not permitted to be included within the
same group, although there is some relief from this requirement for business in-fotce at the date of transition
under the transitional arrangements.

The standard introduces three measutement apptroaches, of which one, the general model and the preminm
allocation approach, ate applicable to the Company’s business. The main features of these models are the
measurement of an insurance contract as the present value of expected future cash flows including
acquisition costs, plus an explicit risk adjustment, remeasured at each reporting period using current
assumptions, and a contractual service margin (‘CSM’).

The risk adjustment represents the compensation the Company requires for beating the uncettainty about
the amount and timing of cash flows that arise from non-financial risk as the obligations under the insurance
contract are fulfilled.

The CSM represents the unearned profit of a group of insurance contracts and is recognised in profit or
loss as the insurance service is provided to the customer using coverage units. Coverage units are 2
measurement of the quantum of service provided across the life of the contract and are used to measure the
service provided in the reporting period and release a corresponding amount of profit to the income
statement. If a group of contracts becomes loss-making after inception the loss is recognised immediately
in the income statement.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2  Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards (continued)

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been adopted eatrly by the Group (continued)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023
with earlier application permitted as long as IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied) (continued)

This treatment of profits and losses in respect of services is broadly consistent with the principles of IFRS
15 and IAS 37 applicable to other industries.

Under the general model the CSM is adjusted for non-economic assumption changes relating to future
periods. For certain contracts with participating features the variable fee approach is applied, this allows
changes in economic assumptions and experience to adjust the CSM as well as non-economic assumptions,
reflecting the variable nature of the entity’s eatnings driven by investment returns. IFRS 17 requires the
standard to be applied retrospectively. Where this is assessed as impracticable the standard allows the
application of a simplified tetrospective approach or a fair value approach to determine the contractual
service margin, The measurement principles set out in IFRS 17 will significantly change the way in which
the Company measures its insurance contracts and associated reinsurance contracts.

These changes will impact the pattern in which profit emerges when compared to IFRS 4 and add complexity
to valuation processes, data requitements and assumption setting. The introduction of IFRS 17 will simplify
the presentation of the statement of financial position. It requires the presentation of groups of insurance
(or reinsurance) contracts that ate in an asset position separately from those in a liability position. The
presentation of the income statement will change more significantly with IFRS 17 setting out how
components of the profitability of contracts are disaggregated into an insurance service result and insurance
finance income/expenses. IFRS 17 also tequites extensive disclosutes on the amounts recognised from
insurance contracts and the nature and extent of risks arising from them.

Premium allocation apptroach: The Premium allocation approach is an optional simplified measurement

model in IFRS 17 that is available for insurance and teinsurance contracts that meet the eligibility criteria.

The Company expects that it will apply the PAA to all contracts except for the liability line of business where

the General Measurement Model (GMM) to account for insurance contracts based on the following criteria:

o Insurance contracts and loss-occurring reinsurance contracts: The coverage period of each contract
in the Company is one year or less.

Risk-attaching reinsurance contracts: The Company reasonably expects that the resulting measurement of
the asset for remaining coverage would not differ materially from the result of applying the accounting
policies described above.

Under IFRS 17, the measurement of a group of contracts includes all of the future cash flows within the
boundaty of each contract in the group. Compared with the current accounting, the Company expects that
for certain contracts the IFRS 17 contract boundaty requitements will change the scope of cash flows to be
included in the measurement of existing recognised contracts, as opposed to future unrecognised contracts.
'The period covered by the premiums within the contract boundary is the ‘coverage period’, which is relevant
when applying a number of requirements in IFRS 17.

Insurance acquisition cash flows atise from the activities of selling, underwriting and starting a group of
contracts that are directly attributable to the portfolio of contracts to which the group belongs. Under IFRS
17 insurance acquisition cash flows are allocated to groups of contracts using systematic and rational
methods based on the total premiums for each group.

Undetr IFRS 17, only insurance acquisition cash flows that arise before the recognition of the related
insurance contracts ate recognised as separate assets and tested for recoverability, whereas other insurance
acquisition cash flows are included in the estimates of the present value of future cash flows as part of the
measurement of the related insurance contracts.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

2  Basis of preparation (continued)
Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards (continued)

Standards, interpretations and amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective and have
not been adopted early by the Group (continued)

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective for accounting period beginning on or after 1 January 2023
with eatlier application permitted as long as IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 are also applied) (continued)

Impact assessment — Non-Life Insurance

Although the PAA is similar to the Company’s cutrent accounting treatment when measuring liabilities for
remaining coverage, the following changes are expected in the accounting for Non-life contracts.

Impact on equity on
Chiangcefon IFRS 4 transition to IFRS 17

Under IFRS 17, the Company will discount the future cash flows when measuring Increase
Liabilities for incutred claims, unless they are expected to occur in one year or less
from the date on which the claims ate incurred. The Company does not currently
discount such future cash flows.

IFRS 17 requires the fulfilment cash flows to include a risk adjustment for non- Decrease
financial risk. This is not explicitly allowed for currently.
The Company’s accounting policy under IFRS 17 to expense eligible insurance Decrease

acquisition cash flows when they are incurred differs from the current practice
under which these amounts ate recognised separately as deferred acquisition costs.

The Company implementation project continued through 2022 with a focus on finalising methodologies
and developing the operational capabilities required to implement the standard including data, systems and
business processes. The current focus is on embedding the operational capabilities and determining the
transition balance sheet and comparatives required for 2023 reporting,

Since the implementation project is currently ongoing, management believes that it is impractical to
determine the amount of the effect of IFRS 17 in the current period.

3  Significant accounting policies

Investment properties

Recognition

Land and buildings owned by the Group for the purposes of generating rental income or capital appreciation

ot both are classified as investment properties. Properties that are being constructed or developed for future
use as investment properties are also classified as investment properties.

Measurenzent

Investment properties ate initially measured at cost, including related transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties ate accounted for using the fair value model under International
Accounting Standard No. 40 “Trvestment Property”. Any gain or loss atising from a change in fair value is
recognised in the profit or loss.

When the Group begins to redevelop an existing investment property for continued future use as an
investment property, the property remains as an investment property, which is measured based on fair value
model and is not reclassified as property held for development and sale property during the redevelopment
with tespect to as an investment property.

However, whete fair value of investment property under construction is not reliably determinable, the
propetty is measured at cost until the eatlier of the date when the construction is complete and the date at
which fair value becomes reliably measurable.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Investment properties (continued)

Transfer from property, plant and equipment to investment properties

Properties held for own use ate accounted for as property, plant and equipment up to the date of the change
in use. Any difference at the date of the change in use between the carrying amount of the property and its
fair value is recognised as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment. Any existing or arising revaluation
sutplus previously recognised in other comprehensive income is not transfetred to the profit or loss at the
date of transfer or on subsequent disposal of the investment property. However, on subsequent disposal,
any existing revaluation surplus that was recognised when the Group applied the revaluation model to the
propeity is transferred to retained earnings.

Transfer from properties beld for development and sale to investment properties

Certain properties held for development and sale are transferred to investment properties when those
properties are either released for rental or for capital appreciation or both. The properties held for sale are
transferred to investment properties at fair value on the date of transfer and gain arising on transfer is
tecognised in the profit ot loss. Subsequent to initial measurement, such properties are valued at fair value
in accordance with the measutement policy for investment properties. Any gain arising on this re-
measurement is recognised in the consolidated income statement on the specific property.

Transfer from investment properties to properties held for development and sale

When a propetty is transferred from investment property measured at fair value to properties held for
development and sale, the transfer is accounted for at fair value. The fair value at the date of transfer is then
deemed to be the property's cost. Any difference between the carrying amount of the property before
transfer and its fair value on the date of transfer is recognised in the profit or loss in the same way as any
other change in the fair value of investment property.

Sale of investment properties

Certain investment propetties are sold in the ordinary course of business. No revenue and direct costs are
recognised for sale of investment properties. Any gain or loss on disposal of sale of investment propetties
(calculated as the difference between the net proceeds from disposal and carrying amount) is recognised in
the consolidated income statement.

Properties held for development and sale

Propetties acquited, constructed of in the course of construction for sale are classified as properties held
for development and sale. Properties held for development and sale are stated at the lower of cost or net
realisable value.

Cost includes the cost of land, infrastructure, construction and other related expenditure such as
professional fees and engineering costs attributable to the project, which are capitalised as and whea the

activities that are necessaty to get the assets ready for the intended use are in progress. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price of the asset in the present condition less costs to be incurred in selling

the propetty.

The Group reviews the carrying values of the properties held for development and sale at each reporting
date.

Financial instruments

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities

Recognition

‘The Group initially recognises trade receivables and trade payables on the date at which they are originated.
All other financial assets and liabilities (including assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit

or loss) are initially recognised on the trade date at which the Group becomes party to the contractual
provision of the instrument.
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3  Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (continued)
Recognition (continued)

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVIPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entitety at either amortised cost or fair
value.

Classification

At inception a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost or fair value,

Financial assets at amortised cost

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not
designated as at FVIPL:

® the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash
flows; and

e the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of ptincipal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

If a financial asset does not meet both of these conditions, then it is measured at fair value.

The Group makes an assessment of a business model at portfolio level as this reflect the best way the
business is managed, and information is provided to the management.

In making an assessment of whether an asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold
assets in to collect contractual cash flows, the Group considers:

® management’s stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice;

® how management evaluates the performance of the portfolio;

® whether management's strategy focus on earning contractual interest revenue;
® the degree of frequency of any expected asset sales;

® the reason of any asset sales; and

e Whether assets that are sold ate held for an extended period of time relative to their contractual maturity
or are sold shortly after acquisition or an extended time before maturity.

Financial assets at FI/TPL

Financial assets held for trading are not held within a business model whose objective is to hold the asset
in order to collect contractual cash flows.

The Group has designated certain financial assets at fair value through profit or loss because designation
eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch, which would otherwise atise.

Finandial assets at F17TOCI

At initial recognition the Group can make an itrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis)
to designate investments in certain equity instruments as at FVIOCI (fair value through other
comptehensive income). Designation to FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity instrument is held for
trading,
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5 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial instrtuments (continued)
Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (continued)

Classification (continued)

Dividend in these investments in equity instruments are recognised in the consolidated profit or loss when
the Group's tight to receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends cleatly represents a recovery
of part of the cost of the investment.

Gains and losses on such equity instruments are never reclassified to consolidated income statement and
no impairment is recognised in consolidated income statement.

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except when the Group changes
its business model for managing financial assets.
Loans and receivables

These assets are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Loans and receivables comptise mainly trade and other receivables and due from related parties.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, balances
with the banks and fixed deposits with original maturities of three months or less from the acquisition date

Cash and cash equivalents (continued)

that are subject to insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in the
management of short-term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents ate carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position.
Equity securities

Otrdinary shares of the Group are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of
ordinary shares are recognised as a deduction from equity.

Non-derivative financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilides includes due to related parties, insurance contract liabilities, borrowings,
trade and other payables and lease liabilities. All financial Liabilities (including liabilities designated at fair
value through consolidated statement of other comprehensive income) are recognised initially on the trade
date, which is the date that the Group becomes a patty to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Pinancial liabilities are initially measuted at fair value, and, whete applicable, adjusted for transaction costs.
Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. All
interest-related chatges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument’s fair value that are reported in
consolidated income statement are included within finance costs or finance income.

De-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual right to the cash flows from the financial
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset in a transaction in which substantially all the risk and
rewards of the ownership are transferred ot in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any interest
in transferred financial assets that qualify for derecognition that is carried or retained by the Group is
recognised as separate asset or liability in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Financial Instruments (continued)
De-recognition of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

On derecognition of financial asset, the difference between the catrying amount of the asset (or the cartying
amount allocated to the portion of the asset transferred), and consideration received (including any new
asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in consolidated income statement.

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligation are discharged or cancelled or
expire.

Impairment and uncollectability of financial assets

The Group tecognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECL) on the following financial
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:

® financial assets that are debt instruments;

e financial guarantee contracts issued; and

® Joan commitments issued.

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except for those financial
instruments on which credit risk has not increased significantly since their initial recognition, in which case
12-month ECL are measured.

12-month ECL ate the pottion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within the 12 months after reporting date.

Measurement of ECL

ECL are ptobability-weighted estimates of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

® financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash shortfalls
(i.e. the diffetence between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract and the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive).

® financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

¢ undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive; and

® financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that the
Group expects to recover.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Group’s revenue streams

Sale of plots of land

Revenue from the sale of plots of land is recognised in the profit or loss when the significant risks and rewards
of ownership ate transferred to the buyet, the Group has no further substantial acts to complete under the
tespective sales contract, access has been granted to the plots and the buyer has provided sufficient evidence of
his commitment to complete the payment towards purchase of plots of land and the amount of revenue and
associated costs can be measured reliably. Revenue from sale of plots is presented net of returns/sale
cancellations.

Revenue from sale of properties held for development and sale

Revenue from sale of properties held for development and sale is recognised in the profit or loss when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer. Significant risks and rewards of
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Group’s revenue streams (continued)

ownership are deemed to be transferred to the buyer when price risk is transferred to the buyer by signing of
the sales contract and the buyer has been granted access to the property when the construction is complete.

Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:
® the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

e the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

¢ the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
® jtis probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and
® the costs incurred ot to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Rendering of services

Revenue from rendering of services is recognised when the outcome of the transaction can be estimated
reliably, by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction at the reporting date. Where the outcome
cannot be measutred reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that the expenses incurred are eligible
to be recovered.

Securities

Gains and losses on sale of secutities atre recognised when the securities are sold and title has passed.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in profit ot loss on the date on which the Group's right to receive payment
is established.

Investment property rental inconse

Rental income from investment property is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of
the lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the term
of the lease.

Rental income from other property is recognised as other income.

Ho#el revenue

Income from hotel services rendered to guests and customers is recognised pro-rata over the petriods of
occupancy. Revenue from sale of food and beverages is recognised upon issuance of related sales invoices
on delivery to guests and customets.

Leases

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that ate not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Group uses its incremental borrowing
rates as the discount rate.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when
there is a change in the futute lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change
in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the
Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

When the lease liability is temeasured in this way, a cottesponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-to-use asset, ot is recorded in the consolidated profit ot loss if the catrying amount of the right-
to-use asset has been reduced to zeto.

The Group presents tight-to-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment properties in ‘Property
and equipment’ and the lease Liabilities as a separate item in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Operating leases

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment properties. The Group, as a lessor,
has determined, based on an evaluaton of the terms and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and so accounts for them as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated income statement on a
straight line basis over the term of the lease.

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Items of propetty, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impaitment losses, if any. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the asset.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Subsequent costs

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is ptobable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to
the profit or loss in the petiod in which they are incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated
residual values using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives, and is generally recognised
in the profit or loss. The estimated useful lives of propetty, plant and equipment for the current and
comparative period is as follows:

Useful life

(in years)

Buildings 5 to 50
Plant and equipment 5to 20
Motor vehicles and trucks 4t0 10
Futniture and fixtures 4to07
Storage tanks 20
Other assets 5to 8

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values ate reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate. Any change is accounted for as a change in accounting estimate by changing the depreciation
charge for the current and future petiods.

Land is not depreciated and is stated at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date of revaluation.
Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of land is credited in other comprehensive income to
the land revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the land
pteviously recognised in the profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to profit or loss to the
extent of the decrease previously charged. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of
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3  Significant accounting policies (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

such land is charged to the profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the land
revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset.

On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued land, the attributable revaluation sutplus remaining in
the land revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the land
tevaluation reserve to retained earnings except when the land is derecognised.

Inventories

Raw materials and spare paris

Raw materials and spare patts are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comptises ditect
matetials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing
them to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

Finished and semi-finished goods

Finished and semi-finished goods ate stated at lower of cost (comprising direct labour, material cost, direct
expenses and an apptopriate allocation of production overheads) and the net realisable value, which is
atrived at after providing fot anticipated losses, if any, when the possibility of loss is ascertained.

Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in 2 business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the
business combination over the Company's interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities. Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, annually or more frequently if events or changes
in citcumstances indicate that its carrying value may be impaired.

Provisions

Provisions ate recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a resuit of a
past event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a
teliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

All provisions ate reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

Contingent liabilides are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed unless
the possibility of an outflow of resoutces embodying economic benefits is remote. A contingent asset is not
recognised in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits is

probable.
Employee benefits
Defined contribution plan

The Group is 2 member of the pension scheme operated by the Federal Pension General and Social Security
Authority which is a defined contribution plan. The Group’s contribution, for eligible UAE National
employees is calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries and charged to the profit or loss, in
accordance with the provisions of Federal Law No. (7) of 1999 relating to Pension and Social Security Law.
The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to pay any further contributions.

Annnal leave and leave passage

An accrual is made for the estimated liability for employees' entitlement to annual leave and leave passage
as a result of services rendered by eligible employees up to the end of the year.

Proision for employees’ end of service benefits to non-UAE nationals
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

The provision for end of service benefits is based on the liability that would arise if the employment of all
staff were terminated at the reporting date and is calculated in accordance with the provisions of UAE
Federal Labour Law and the relevant local laws applicable to overseas subsidiaries. Management considers
these as long-term obligations and accordingly they are classified as long-term liabilites.

The accrual relating to annual leave and leave passage is disclosed as a current liability, while the provision
relating to end of service benefit is disclosed as a non-current liability.

Finance income

Intetest income is acctued on a time proportion basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
interest rate applicable.

Finance costs

Finance costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset ate recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method.

Insurance contracts

Classification
The Group issues contracts that transfer either insurance tisk ot both insurance and financial risks,

Contracts under which the Group accepts significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholder)
by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely
affects the policyholdet are classified as insurance contracts. Insurance risk is significant if an insured event
could cause the Group to pay significant additional benefits as a result of an insured event occurring,

Insurance contracts may also transfer some financial risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change
in one ot more of a specified interest rate, security price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of
ptices of rates, credit rating or credit index or other vatiable, provided in the case of a non-financial variable
that the vatiable is not specific to a party to the contract.

Contracts where insurance risk is not significant are classified as investment contracts.

Once a contract is classified as an insurance contract it remains classified as an insurance contract until all
rights and obligations are extinguished or expired.

Recognition and measurement

Preminms

Gtoss premiums wtitten reflect business incepted during the year, and exclude any fees and other amounts
collected with and calculated based on premiums. These are recognised when underwriting process is
complete and policies are issued.

The eatned ptoportion of premiums is recognised as income. Premiums are earned from the date of
attachment of risk over the indemnity period and uneatned premium is calculated using the basis desctibed

below:

Unearned premuinm reserve (UPR)

The unearned premium considered in the insurance contract liabilities comprise the estimated proportion
of the gross premiums written which relates to the petiods of insurance subsequent to the statement of
financial position date. UPR are calculated using the 1/365 method except for marine catgo and general
accident. The UPR for marine catgo is recognised as fixed proportion of the written premiums as required
in the financial regulation and UPR for general accident assumes a linear increase in risk with the duration
of the project such that the risk faced is 100% at the expiry of the contract. The rate at which the premium
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Recognition and measurement (continued)

is earned is deemed to increase at the same rate at which the risk faced increases over the lifetime of the
policy.
Claims

Claims incutred comprise the settlement and the internal and external handling costs paid and changes in
the provisions for outstanding claims arising from events occurring during the financial period. Where
applicable, deductions are made for salvage and their recoveries.

Claims outstanding comptise provisions for the Group’s estimate of the ultimate cost of settling all claims
incurred but unpaid at the reporting date whether reported or not, and related internal and external claims
handling expense reduced by expected salvage and other recoveries. Claims outstanding atre assessed by
reviewing individual reported claims. Provisions for claims outstanding are not discounted. Adjustments to
claims provisions established in ptior periods are reflected in the financial statements of the period in which
the adjustments are made. The methods used, and the estimates made, are reviewed regularly. Provision is
also made for any claims incurred but not reported (“IBNR”) at the date of statement of financial position
on the basis of management estimates. The basis of estimating outstanding claims and IBNR are detailed in
note 15.

Reinsurance

The Group cedes reinsurance in the normal course of business for the purpose of limiting its net loss
potential through the diversification of its risks. Assets, liabilities and income and expense atising from
ceded reinsurance contracts are presented separately from the assets, liabilities, income and expense from
the related insurance contracts because the reinsurance arrangements do not telieve the Group from its
direct obligations to its policyholders.

Amounts due to and from reinsurets are accounted for in a manner consistent with the related insurance
policies and in accordance with the relevant reinsurance contracts. Reinsurance premiums are deferred and
expensed using the same basis as used to calculate unearned premium reserves for related insurance policies.
The defetred portion of ceded reinsurance premiums is included in reinsurance assets.

Reinsurance assets are assessed for impairment at each reporting date. A reinsurance asset is deemed
impaired if there is objective evidence, as a tesult of an event that occurred after its initial recognition, that
the Group may not recover all amounts due, and that event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts
that the Group will receive from the reinsurer. Impairment losses on reinsurance assets are tecognised in
statement of income in the period in which they are incurred.

Profit commission in respect of teinsurance contracts is recognised on an accrual basis.

Deferred acquisition cost

For general insurance contracts, the deferred acquisition cost asset represents the portion of acquisition
costs which cortesponds to the propottion of gross premiums written that is unearned at the reporting date.
Commission income related to underwriting activities are recognised on a time proportion basis over the
effective period of policy using the same basis as described for unexpired risk premium.

Insurance receivables and payables

Amounts due from and to policyholders, agents and reinsurets are financial instruments and are included
in insurance receivables and payables, and not in insurance contract provisions of reinsurance assets.

Insurance contract provision and reinsurance assets

Insurance contract liabilities towards outstanding claims ate made for all claims intimated to the Group and
still unpaid at the consolidated statement of financial position date, in addition for claims incurred but not
repotted. The unearned premium considered in the insurance contract liabilities comprise the estimated
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued)
Insurance contracts (continued)

Recognition and measurement (continued)

propottion of the gross premiums wtitten which relates to the periods of insurance subsequent to the
reporting date.

The reinsurers’ portion towards the above outstanding claims, claims incurred but not reported and
unearned premium is classified as reinsurance contract assets in the consolidated financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets

At each repotting date, the Group reviews the catrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other than
investment propetty) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication
exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to
sell. Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount.

Impairment losses ate recognised in profit or loss. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU
on a pto rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
cattying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most
advantageous market to which the Group has access at that date. The fair value of a Liability reflects its non-

performance risk,

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted prices in an active
market for that insttument. A matket is regatrded as active if transactions for the assets or liability take place
with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing on an ongoing basis.

If there is no quoted ptice in an active matket, then the Group uses valuation techniques that maximize the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation
technique incotporates all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a
transaction.

4 Funding and liquidity

The Gtoup has third party commitments amounting to AED 3,685 million as at 31 December 2022
(2021: AED 4,085 million) of which AED 3,672 million (2021: AED 4,070 million) is payable within one
year from the reporting date.

These third party commitments include loans and borrowings including accrued interest of AED 2,684
million (2021: AED 2,931 million) which is payable within one year from the reporting date.

The Board of Directors expect that the Group will meet its funding requirements through future income
generated from opetations, sale of investments and properties, existing cash and bank balances and
restructuring of its certain existing loan facilities.
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4 Funding and liquidity (continued)
Furthermore, the Boatrd of Directors and the management have undertaken a variety of initiatives and are

continuing with the plans as outlined above, which they believe to be realistic and achievable to ensure the
Group’s ability to meet its financial commitments as they fall due. Also refer to notes 20 and 21.

5 Key accounting judgements and uncertainty

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are desctibed in note 3 to these consolidated
financial statements, management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates,

The estimates and underlying assumptions ate reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised prospectively.

The significant judgements and estimates made by management, that have a significant risk of causing a
matetial adjustment to the cattying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
described on the next page:

Key judgements in applying accounting policies
Going concern

The Group’s management has performed an assessment of the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concetn, which covers a period of twelve months from the reporting date, based on certain identified events
and conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as going concern.

The Group’s management has prepared its business forecast and the cash flow forecast for the twelve
months from the teporting date on a conservative basis. On the basis of such forecasts, the Group’s
management is of the opinion that the Group will be able to continue its operations for the next twelve
months from the reporting date and that the going concetn assumption used in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements is appropriate. The appropriateness of the going concetn basis of
accounting shall be reassessed next year.

Classification of properties

In the ptocess of classifying properties, management has made various judgements. Judgement is needed to
determine whether a property qualifies as an investment property, propetty, plant and equipment and/or
propetty held for development and sale. The Group develops criteria so that it can exercise that judgement
consistently in accordance with the definitions of investment property, property, plant and equipment and
propetties held for development and resale. In making its judgement, management considered the detailed
ctitetia and related guidance for the classification of properties as set out in IAS 2, IAS 16 and TAS 40, in
particular, the intended usage of property as determined by the management. Properties held for
development and sale ate grouped under current assets as intention of the management is to sell it within
one year from the end of the reporting date.

Key sources of estimation

The following ate the key assumptons concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the catrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

The fair value of investment properties is determined by independent real estate valuation experts using
recognised valuation methods. Refer to note 7 for details.

Such estimations are based on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and might materially
differ from the actual results.
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Key sources of estimation (continued)

Valuation of nunquoted equity invesiments

Valuation of unquoted equity investments is normally based on recent market transactions on an arm’s
length basis, fair value of anothet instrument that is substantially the same, expected cash flows discounted
at current rates for similar insttuments or other valuation models. In the absence of an active market for
these investments or any recent transactions that could provide evidence of the current fair value, these
investments are carried at cost less recognised impairment losses, if any. Management believes that the
carrying values of these unquoted equity investments are not materially different from their fair values.
Valuation techniques and key inputs ate mentioned in note 32 to these consolidated financial statements,

Tnepairment of investments in associates

Management tegulatly reviews its investments in associates for indicatots of impairment. This determination
of whether investments in associates ate impaired entails management’s evaluation of the specific investee’s
profitability, liquidity, solvency and ability to generate operating cash flows from the date of acquisition and
until the foreseeable future. The difference between the estimated recoverable amount and the carrying
value of investment is recognised as an expense in profit or loss. Management is satisfied that no impairment
provision is necessary on its investments in associates in excess of amounts already provided.

Impairment of trade and other receivables (including due from related parties)

The Group reviews its receivables to assess impairment at least on an annual basis. The Group’s credit risk
is primarily attributable to its trade receivables, due from related parties and bank balance. In determining
whethet impairment losses should be recognised in profit and loss, the Group makes judgements as to
whether thete is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future
cash flows. Accordingly, an allowance for impairment is made in accordance with the ‘expected credit loss’
(ECL) model. This requires considerable judgement about how the changes in economic factors affect
ECLs, which are determined on a ptobability-weighted basis.

Impairment of properties held for development and sale

The Group’s management reviews the propetties held for development and sale to assess impaitment, if
there is an indication of impairment,

In determining whether impairment losses should be recognised in the consolidated income statement and
other comprehensive income, the management assesses the current selling prices of the property units and
the anticipated costs for completion of such propetty units for properties which remain unsold at the
reporting date. If the current selling prices are lower than the anticipated costs to complete, an impairment
provision is recognised for the identified loss event or condition to reduce the cost of properties held for
development and sale to its net realisable value.

Insurance contract classification

Contracts are classified as insurance contracts where they transfer significant insurance tisk from the holder of
the contract to the Group.

There ate a number of contracts sold where the Group exercises judgement about the level of insurance risk
transferred. The level of insurance risk is assessed by consideting whether there are any scenarios with
commercial substance in which the Group is required to pay significant additional benefits. These benefits are
those which exceed the amounts payable if no insured event were to occur. These additional amounts include
claims liability and assessment costs, but exclude the loss of the ability to charge the holder of the contract for
future services.

Provision for ontstanding claims, whether reported or not

Considerable judgement by the management is required in the estimation of amounts due to the contract
holders arising from claims made under insurance contracts. Such estimates are necessarily based on
significant assumptions about several factors involving varying, and possible significant, degrees of
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Key sources of estimation (continued)

judgement and uncettainty and actual tesults may differ from management’s estimates resulting in future
changes in estimated liabilities.

In particular, estimates have to be made both for the expected ultimate cost of claims reported at the date
of consolidated statement of financial position and for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but
not reported (“IBNR”) at the date of consolidated staternent of financial position. Estimates ate made for
the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not yet teported at the reporting date (IBNR) using a range
of standatd actuatial claim projection techniques, based on empirical data and current assumptions that may
include a margin for adverse deviation and are presented in note 15.

Claims requiting court or atbitration decisions are estimated individually. Independent loss adjusters
normally estimate property claims. Management reviews its provisions for claims incurred and IBNR claims

regularly.

Liability adegnacy test

At each consolidated statement of financial position date, liability adequacy tests are performed to ensure
the adequacy of insurance contract liabilities. The Group makes use of the best estimates of future
contractual cash flows and claims handling and administration expenses, as well as investment income from

the assets backing such liabilities in evaluating the adequacy of the liability. Any deficiency is immediately
charged to the consolidated income statement.

Impairnent of goodwill

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and at other times when such indications exist. The impairment
calculation requites the use of estimates. Management has petformed impairment test during the year and
based on the consolidated financial position, performance and expansion plans of the entities, have
concluded that expected future cash flows to atise from each subsidiaries will be adequate, accordingly no
impairment is required.

Inventories

Inventoties are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Adjustments to reduce the cost of
inventory to its realisable value, if required, are made at the product group level for estimated excess,
obsolescence or impaired balances. Factors influencing these adjustments include changes in demand,
product pricing, physical detetioration and quality issues.

Consolidation - de facto control

As per control model of IFRS 10, the Group has assessed for all its investees whether it has power over an
investee, exposure ot right to vatiable returns from its involvement with the investee and ability to use its
power to affect those returns. In determining control, judgements have been exercised on the telationship
of the Group with the investees based on which conclusions have been drawn.

Such estimations are based on certain assumptions, which ate subject to uncertainty and might materially
differ from the actual results.
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Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) and its subsidiaries
Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2022

7 Investment properties

2022 2021

AED 000 AED 000

At 1 January 2,525,081 2,585,089
Additions during the year 318 -
Disposals (refer to note (i) below) (368,705) (79,400)
Change in fair value (tefer to note (ii) below) 63,772 19,392
At 31 December 2,220,466 2,525,081

()  Duting the current year, the Group disposed three investment properties for an amount of AED
275 million. The carrying value of this investment property at the time of disposal was AED 369
million. This resulted in a loss of AED 93 million.

@) The fair value of investment properties has been determined by external, qualified and independent
Chartered Sutveyors and Property Consultants who have recent expetience in the locations and
categories of the investment properties valued. The valuation has been conducted in accordance with
the RICS Valuation Global Standards (2017 Edition).

The fair value of certain properties amounting to AED 648 million (2021: AED 411 million) has
been determined by the ‘Income Capitalisation’ method. This process involves deducting running
costs from the Gross Rental Income of the propetty in order to achieve the net rental income. The
net rent is then capitalised at a yield to reflect the risks involved with the current and future cash
flows.

The significant assumptions applied in determining the fair value of investment properties are given below:

2022 2021

AED *000 AED 000

Gross operating income 46,742 29,257
Annual net rental income 42,730 26,179
Risk adjusted capitalisation rate 6.5% 7.5% - 8.5%

A significant change in the estimated rental income in isolation would result in significant movement in
fair value measurement. Similarly, significant movement in the risk adjusted capitalisation rate in isolation
would result in significant movement in fair value measurement.

The fair value of certain properties amounting to AED 1,000 million (2021: AED 351 million) has been
determined by the ‘Sales Comparison’ method which is carried out on the basis of recent market
transactions for similar properties in the same location. These values are adjusted for differences in key
attributes such as property size, location, rezoning permits etc.

The fair value of certain properties amounting to AED 473 million (2021: AED 1,604 million) has been
determined by taking into account the Gross Development Value when completed and deducting all the
costs including construction costs, soft costs, developer’s profit and finance costs. Further adjustments are
applied in terms of the various characteristics of the property.
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7 Investment properties (continued)

The fair value measurement for the investment properties has been categorised as Level 3 based on the
inputs to the valuation techniques used. For all investment properties, the current use of the property is
the considered to be highest and best use.

Based on the above valuations, the Group has recognised a gain on fair valuation of AED 64 million (2021:
gain on fair valuation of AED 19 million) on investment properties.

Investment properties amounting to AED 234 million (2021: AED 769 million) are registered in the name of
telated parties in trust and for the beneficial interest of the Group. Investment properties amounting to AED
1,298 million (2021: AED 1,751 million) are mortgaged to banks towatds credit facilities granted to the Group
(refer to note 20).

Investment properties includes certain properties amounting to AED 120 million (2021: AED 120 million)
which are under process of registration / transfer in the name of the Group.

8 Goodwill

Goodwill represents AED 4 million as at 31 December 2022 (2021: AED 11.5 million). An impairment test
for goodwill has been cartied out based on the "value in use" calculation. The calculation uses cash flow
ptojections over a petiod based on estimated operating results of the entities. The projected cash flows have
been discounted using a discount tate that reflects the industty specific risk. The Group's Directors based on
the review of the impairment test for goodwill believe that there was an impairment on goodwill amounting to
AED 7.5 million (2021: Nil).

9 Investments in associates
2022 2021
AED ’000 AED *000
At 1 January 184,839 286,437
Share of loss for the year (18,865) (20,795)
Disposal of interest in an associate (refer to note below) - (80,803)
At 31 December 165,974 184,839

The investments in associate includes AED 66 million (2021: AED 66 million) representing Ghadah
General Trading and Contracting Co. LLC amounting to AED 40 million (2021: AED 40 million) and
Arab Real Estate Development P.S.C. (Arab Corp) amounting to AED 26 million (2021: AED 26 million)

The details of significant associates are as follows:

Name of the associates Place of Ownership (%)
incorporation 2022 2021
Arab Real Estate Development P.S.C. (Arab Corp) Jordan 30.8 30.8
Ghadah General Trading and Contracting Co. L.L.C.
(Khalid Mustafa Karam Sons & Partners) Kuwait 38.0 38.0
Al Sagr Cooperative Insurance Company Saudi Arabia 20.0 20.0

Investments in associates include payments made against the share capital of the companies under
formation.

Summarised financial information in respect of material associates are set out in note 30 to these
consolidated financial statements.
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10 Investments in securities

2022 2021
AED ’000 AED 000
Investments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVITOCI”)
At 1 January 74,682 49,343
Addition duting the year - 28,712
Disposal during the year (277) {8,831)
Change in fair value (3,302) 5,458
At 31 December 71,103 74,682
Investments measured at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL”)
At 1 January 101,868 95,864
Additions 2,750 515
Disposal during the year (5,075) (436)
Change in fair value 967 5,925
At 31 December 100,510 101,868
Presented in statement of financial position as:
Non-current portion 71,103 74,682
Current portion 100,510 101,868
171,613 176,550

Investments measured at FVIPL and investments measured at FVTOCI include investments of
AED 79 million (2021: AED 86 million) pledged to banks (note 20).

11 Properties held for development and sale

2022 2021
AED 000 AED *000
At 1 Januaty 174,102 174,086
Additions during the year 10,753 16
At 31 December 184,855 174,102

This comprise of
Construction cost - net 129,083 118,330
Cost of land - net 55,772 55,772

184,855 174,102
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1 Properties held for development and sale (continued)

(®  Management has performed an assessment of the recoverable amount of the properties held for
development and sale mainly on the basis of the independent fair valuation with no properties written
down during the current year (2021: Nil).

(i) TFor certain properties that are under construction, the recoverable amount of the construction cost
cannot be reliably determined until the construction is complete and cash flows can be reliably estimated.
As at the reporting date, management has assessed that the recoverable amount of the construction cost
approximates its carrying value,

12 Inventories

2022 2021
AED ’000 AED *000
Raw materials 11,837 15,674
Wortk-in-progress = 268
Finished goods 17,291 24,650
29,128 40,592
Less: allowance for slow moving inventoties (10,339) (3,011)
18,789 37,581
Stores and spares 977 3,238
19,766 40,819

Movement in the allowance for slow moving inventories is as follows:
2022 2021
AED ’000 AED ’000
At 1 January 3,011 10,707
Chatge / (written) off during the yeat 7,328 (7,696
At 31 December 10,339 3,011

Certain inventoties along with the assignment of insurance policies against those inventories are hypothecated
to banks against credit facilities granted to the Group (note 20).

13 Related party transactions and balances

The Group in the ordinary course of business, entets into transaction with other business enterprises that fall
within the definition of a related party as contained in Intetnational Accounting Standard 24. Pricing policies
and terms of transactions with related parties ate mutually agreed. Related parties comprise companies and
entities under common ownetship and/or common management and control, shareholders, ditectors and
key management personnel of the Group, their close family members and entities controlled, jointly
controlled ot significantly influenced by such parties.

Significant transactions carried out with related parties duting the period, other than those disclosed elsewhete
in the consolidated financial statements ate as follows:

2022 2021

AED ’000 AED *000

Interest charged by a related patty 30,868 29,103
Gtoss premium 2,728 3,240
Claims paid (393) (863)
Commission paid on rented properties 620 669
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13 Related party transactions and balances (continued)
Compensation to key management personnel:
2022 2021
AED *000 AED 000
Salaries and benefits 6,970 5,911
The balances with related parties are as under: 2022 2021
AED *000 AED *000
Due from related parties
Associates - 2,707
Other related parties 5,844 7,581
5,844 10,288
The balances with related parties are as under:
2022 2021
AED 000 AED 000
Due to related parties
Associates - -
Other related parties 354,390 436,249
354,390 436,249

The amounts outstanding are unsecuted and repayable on demand. The above balance is net of impairment
allowance of AED 4 million (2021: AED 10 million).

Certain related party balances carry interest at agreed rates.

Investment properties amounting to AED 234 million (note 7) (2021: AED 769 million) are registered in the
name of related parties in trust and for the beneficial intetest of the Group.

14 Trade and other receivables
2022 2021
AED *000 AED 000
Trade receivables 79,757 118,966
Notes receivable 157,376 189,350
Insurance receivables 312,570 260,047
Less: allowance for expected credit losses (note 32) (234,873) (92,815)
314,830 475,548
Prepayment and other receivables 107,610 76,315
Value added taxes recoverable 1,746 1,597
424,186 553,460
Less: non-current portion — Trade receivables (3,948) (23,052
420,238 530,408
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15 Reinsurance contract assets and insurance contract liabilities
2022 2021
AED *000 AED 000
Gross
Reserve for outstanding claims 166,687 205,522
Unallocated loss adjustment expense resetve 3,752 6,337
Unexpired risk teserve 4,688 5,796
Mathematical reserve 252 1,157
Reserve for incurred but not reported claims (IBNR) 73,360 74,805
Reserve for outstanding claims (including IBNR) 248,739 293,677
Unearned premium reserve 324,445 218,631
Total insurance contract liabilities (gross) 573,184 512,308
Less: recoverable from reinsurers
Reinsurer share of outstanding claims (128,000) (156,950)
Reinsurer share of incurred but not reported claims (IBNR) (21,610) (26,313)
Reinsurer share of mathematical reserve (251) (1,150)
Reinsurance share of unexpired risk resetve - (395)
Reinsurer share of outstanding claims (including IBINR) (149,861) (184,808)
Unamortised reinsurance ptemium reserve (96,483) (73,381)
Total reinsurance contract assets (246,344) (258,689
Net insurance contract liabilities 326,840 253,619

Movement in outstanding claims reserve, IBNR resetve, unexpired risk reserve and unallocated loss adjustment
expense resetve:

Gross Reinsurance Net
AED ’000 AED *000 AED *000
2022
At 1 January 292,520 (183,659) 108,861
Add: provision made during the year 412,399 (145,438) 266,961
Less: provision released during the year (456,432) 179,487 (276,945)
At 31 December 248,487 (149,610) 98,877
2021
At 1 January 247,401 (164,915) 82,486
Add: provision made during the year 457,948 (114,500) 343,448
Less: provision released during the year (412,829) 95,756 (317,073
At 31 December 292,520 (183,659) 108,861
Movement in unearned premium tesetve:
Gross Reinsurance Net
AED ’000 AED ’000 AED *000
2022
At 1 January 218,631 (73,881) 144,750
Add: provision made during the year 324,445 (96,483) 227,962
Less: provision released during the year (218,631) 73,881 (144,750)
At 31 December 324,445 (96,483) 227,962
2021
At 1 Januaty 266,320 (54,989) 211,331
Add: provision made during the year 218,631 (73,881) 144,750
Less: provision released during the year (266,320) 54,989 (211,331)
At 31 December 218,631 (73,881) 144,750
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15 Reinsurance contract assets and insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Assumptions and sensitivities
Process used to determine the assumptions

The process used to determine the assumptions for calculating the outstanding claim reserve is intended to
result in neutral estimates of the most likely or expected outcome. The sources of data used as inputs for
the assumptions are internal, using detailed studies that are cattied out annually. The assumptions are
checked to ensure that they ate consistent with obsetvable market practices or other published information.

The nature of the business makes it vety difficult to predict with certainty the likely outcome of any
patticular claim and the ultimate cost of notified claims. Each notified claim is assessed on a separate, case
by case basis with due regard to the claim circumstances, information available from loss adjusters and
historical evidence of the size of similar claims. Case estimates are reviewed regulatly and are updated as
and when new information arises.

The provisions are based on information cutrently available. However, the ultimate liabilities may vary as
a result of subsequent developments or if catastrophic events occur. The impact of many of the items
affecting the ultimate costs of the loss is difficult to estimate.

The provision estimation difficuldes also differ by class of business due to differences in the undetlying
insurance contract, claim complexity, the volume of claims and the individual severity of claims,
determining the occurtence date of a claim, and teporting lags.

The method used by the Group for provision of IBNR takes into account historical data, past estimates
and details of the reinsurance programme, to assess the expected size of reinsurance recoveries. Estimates
are made for the expected ultimate cost of claims incurred but not yet reported at the reporting date IBNR)
using a range of standard actuarial claim projection techniques, based on empirical data and current
assumptions that may include a margin for adverse deviation.

The assumptions that have the greatest effect on the measurement of insurance contract provisions ate the
expected loss ratios for the most recent accident years.

An analysis of sensitivity around various scenarios provides an indication of the adequacy of the Group’s
estimation ptocess. The Group believes that the liability for claims reported in the consolidated statement
of financial position is adequate. Howevet, it recognises that the process of estimation is based upon certain
variables and assumptions which could differ when claims are finally settled.
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15 Reinsurance contract assets and insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Assumptions and sensitivities (continued)

Clain: and develospnrent table

Underwriting year

2019 & Prior 2020 2021 2022 Total
AED 000 AED’000 AED’000 AED 000 AED ’000

Gross
Estimate of net incutred claims cost
- At the end of underwriting yeat 984,282 390,603 420,013 354,376 -
- One year later 1,021,602 407,966 460,813 - -
- Two yeats later 1,036,525 415,506 - - -
- Three years later 1,039,208 - - - -
- Four year later 797,682
- Five years later 582,574
- Six years later 341,998
Cutrent estimate of incurred claims 1,056,947 415,506 460,813 354,376 2,287,642
Cumulative payments to date (1,052,547)  (345,992)  (439,767) (283,063) (2,121,369)
Liability recognised 4,400 69,514 21,046 71,313 166,273
Liability in respect of prior yeats 414
Total liability included in the consolidated statement of financial position 166,687
Net
Estimate of net incurred claims cost
- At the end of underwriting year 585,207 210,655 312,617 210,416 -
- One year later 665,211 227,753 360,332 - -
- Two yeats later 670,476 241,396 - - -
- Three yeats later 676,278 - - - -
- Four year later 507,737
- Five years later 373,648
- Six years later 228,816
Cutrent estimate of incurred claims 704,262 241,396 360,332 210,416 1,516,406
Cumulative payments to date (704,744 (241,278)  (358,828) (172,979) (1,477,829)
Liability recognised (482) 118 1,504 37,437 38,577
Liability in respect of prior yeats 110
Total liability included in the consolidated statement of financial position 38,687
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16 Cash in hand and at banks

2022 2021
AED °000 AED 000
Cash in hand 1,731 1,827
Bank balances:
- Current accounts (refer to note below) 108,019 117,322
- Deposit accounts (refer to note below) 197,409 191,173
Less: expected credit losses (34) 34
Cash in hand and at banks 307,125 310,288
Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following amounts:
Less: fixed deposits under lien/deposits with
maturity of mote than three months (256) (256)
Less: bank overdrafts (note 20) (158,789) (154,550)
Cash and cash equivalents 148,080 155,482

Bank balances in cuttent accounts includes AED 3.4 million (2021: AED 3.4 million) held in escrow accounts
as at 31 December 2022.

Deposits include fixed deposits of AED 168.5 million (2021: AED 158.4 million) held under lien (note 20)
against faciliies granted (bank overdraft) to the Group and also include a deposit amounting to AED 10.3
million (2021: AED 10.3 million) deposited in the name of the Group to the order of the Ministry of Economy
and Trade of the United Arab Emirates as requited by the Federal Law No. (G) of 2007 relating to the Insurance
Authority.

17 Share capital

2022 2021
AED *000 AED 000
Authorised, issued and paid up
1,791 million shares of AED 1 each paid up in cash 1,791,333 1,791,333
18 Reserves
Legal reserve

In accordance with UAE Federal Commercial Companies Law No. (32) of 2021, the Company and its
subsidiaries registered in UAE ate required to establish a statutory reserve by appropriation of 10% of profit
for each year until the reserve equals 50% of the paid up share capital. This reserve is not available for
distribution except as stipulated by the Law.

Additional reserve

The Company’s Atticles of Association requires that 10% of the annual profit be appropriated to an additional
reserve until a decision by the Ordinary General Assembly Meeting on the strength of proposal by the Board
of Ditectors or if such reserve equals 50% of paid-up share capital of the Company.

Asset revaluation surplus

The revaluation resetve represents the surplus atising on the revaluation of land and buildings. This resetve is
non-distributable unless the land and buildings are either disposed or withdrawn from use.
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19 Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
2022 2021
AED *000 AED 000
At 1 January 15,005 23,316
(Reversal)/chatge for the year 1,158 (5,794
Payments duting the year (3,008) (2,517)
At 31 December 13,155 15,005
20 Bortowings
2022 2021
AED ’000 AED *000
Term loans (refer to note below) 1,889,616 2,140,690
Bank overdrafts (note 16) 158,789 154,550
2,048,405 2,295,240
The below table provides movement of interest beating borrowings in the following yeats:
2022 2021
AED 000 AED "000
At 1 January 2,295,240 2274314
Cash flow iterms
Repayment of borrowings during the year (251,074) (55,818)
Net movement in bank overdrafts 4,239 95,901
Net movement in trust receipts - (19,157)
At 31 December 2,048,405 2,295,240

On 2 July 2012, the Company concluded the restructuting agreement with a group of banks covering the
outstanding debt of AED 2,778 million (“Eatlier Restructured Loan™). The restructured loan was repayable in
annual instalments up to 31 December 2018.

In previous years, the Company initiated a negotiation with the lendets to further restructure its outstanding
debt. As at 10 December 2017, the Company concluded the revised restructuring agreement after obtaining
approvals from the majority of the banks covering a total debt of AED 2,147 million (including interest payable
of AED 74 million up to 31 December 2016). Under the revised agreement, 66.08% of the Earlier Restructured
Loan was repayable in annual instalments until 31 December 2023 and the remaining 33.92% as a final
settlement in a manner to be renegotiated at that time.

Of the total restructured loan, the repayment of AED 607 million (prncipal) (2027: AED 520 »illion), due and
payable as at 31 December 2022, was defaulted by the Company. The Company’s Directors reviewed the facts
and circumstances of the default in 2018 and have accordingly classified the entire loan amount as current
liability.

The tevised testructured facility carries interest at the rate of 2.75% per annum above 6-month EIBOR for
term facilities denominated in AED and 6-month LIBOR for term facilities denominated in USD charged on
a semi-annual basis. Further, effective from the revised restructuring agreement date, a payment-in-kind (PII)
at 0.25% will be additionally charged on a semi-annual basis on the outstanding debt and is due to be repaid
on 31 December 2023. Commencing 31 December 2018, in the event of default, the interest rate will be
increased by 0.25% per annum on a semi-annual basis. The Company has been in default in 2020 and therefore
the interest rate has increased from 2.75% to 3.00% per annum for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
2021. Any such inctease in the intetest rate will no longer be applicable for future periods if no event of default
subsists.
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20 Borrowings (continued)

There is no change in the secutity and covenant requirements as per the revised restructuring agreement.
The Company is requited to maintain a minimum Asset Cover Ratio of 1.2:1 and is also subject to the
general covenants including dividend restriction in accordance with the restructuring agreement. Further,
certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject to maintain certain level of financial indebtedness as
guarantors of the restructured loan. These borrowings are secured against certain assets of the Group, Refer
tonotes 6,7,9,10, 11 and 12.

The Group has been in negotiations with its lendets to settle its outstanding loans and settled the liability
amounting to AED 295 during the year. Further, the group has made settlement with a few lenders, and it
has resulted in a gain of AED 109 million (2021: nil).

During the year, the Group repaid the borrowing through proceeds from sale of investment propetties for
AED 182 (2021: AED 69 million) and sale of shares for AED 5 million (2021: AED 28 million).

Furthermore, the Company is in the process of negotiation with a financial institution to restructure a credit
facility amounting to AED 257 million (included in trade and other payables) and interest of
AED 39 million (2021: AED 39 million) (refer to note 21).

Other borrowings

sOther borrowings mainly include borrowings by the subsidiaties of the Company. These borrowings are
subject to certain financial covenants at the respective subsidiary level and are at the below terms and
conditions:

° Pledge of assets;
. Promissory note in favour of the banks; and

. Hypothecation over goods financed by trust receipts.

21 Trade and other payables

2022 2021

AED *000 AED 000

Trade payables 103,380 113,619
Accrued expenses (refer to note below) 307,389 397,726
Notes payable (refer to note below) 257,040 257,040
Provisions and other payables 227,910 223,067
Due to insurance and reinsurance companies 65,238 56,875
Insurance customers payable 61,091 29,375
Value added taxes payable 3,973 2,838
Advance from customers 1,438 1,198
1,027,459 1,081,738

Notes payable represents capital protected notes carrying interest at the rate of 2% above 6-month LIBOR
and are secured by investments in quoted secutities of the Group. The Group is in the process of negotiation
with a financial institution to testructute a credit facility amounting to AED 257 million which became due
for repayment on 30 September 2016 (refer to note 20).
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22 Revenue

Insurance income

Trading, setvice and rental income

Sale of properties held for development and sale
Sale of manufactured goods

Dividend income

23 Cost of revenue

Cost of insurance

Cost of property sold

Cost of trading, services and rentals
Cost of goods manufactured and sold

24 Administrative and general expenses

These include:

Staff salaties and benefits
Depreciation

Legal and professional fee
Utilities

Rent expense

Repair and maintenance

25 Investment properties (loss) / income - net

Change in fair value of investment properties (note 7)
Loss on sale of investment propetties (note 7)

26 Investment loss - net

Change in fair value of investments in securities (note 10)
Gain /(loss) on sale of investments in secutities

Loss on disposal of interest in an associate

Loss on liquidation of subsidiaties (refer to note below)

2022 2021
AED 000 AED 000
282,526 333,234
106,663 90,515
4,770 8,584
23,699 20,926
1,672 2,239
419,330 455,498
2022 2021
AED *000 AED *000
266,955 343,448
4,654 8,285
50,186 42,447
17,055 14,745
338,850 408,925
2022 2021
AED *000 AED "000
63,232 59,109
4,660 4,602
12,380 9,819
7,113 6,863
7,297 5,142
5,394 3,323
2022 2021
AED 000 AED "000
63,772 19,392
(93,400) (10,297)
(29,628) 9,095
2022 2021
AED 000 AED "000
967 5,925

350 a72)

- (32,891)

(27,742) (1,771)
(26,425) (28,909)
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26 Investment loss — net (continued)

Duting the year, the Group has liquidated one of its subsidiaries (2021: two subsidiaries) and written off
its assets and liabilides which resulted in a net loss of AED 27.7 million (2021: loss of AED 1.8 million)

(refer to note 2).

27 Finance income
2022 2021
AED ’000 AED °000
Interest on bank deposits 3,453 4,585
28 Finance cost
2022 2021
AED 000 AED 000
Bank overdraft 12,458 2,354
Interest charged by a related party 30,868 29,103
43,326 31,457
29 Loss per share
2022 2021
Loss attributable to ownets of the :
Company (AED *000) (181,950) (92,686)
Number of shares (000) 1,791,333 1,791,333
Basic and diluted loss per share (AED fils per share) (10.16) (5.17)

30 Short term lease commitments

At the end of the reporting date, the minimum lease commitments of the Group were as follows:

2022 2021
AED ’000 AED 000
Less than one yeat 189 154
31 Commitments and contingent liabilities
Commitments
2022 2021
AED *000 AED ’000
Building construction contracts
Group 43,077 699,194
Contingent Iiabilities
2022 2021
AED 000 AED 000
Group
Letters of guarantee 12,612 15,832
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31 Commitments and contingent liabilities (continued)

Certain claims and contingent liabilities may atise duting the normal course of business. The Board of Directors
review these on a regular basis as and when such claims are received and each case is treated according to its
metit. Based on the terms of the relevant contracts and circumstances, the Group determines if a counter claim
should be lodged. Based on the opinion of the Group’s independent legal counsel and information presently
available, the Board of Ditectots have assessed that the final outcome of outstanding legal claims (initial
judgement in some cases is in favour and in some cases against the Company) cannot be reliably determined
considering these cases ate sub-judice. On the basis of their review of the current position of these legal claims,
the Company’s Directors ate of the view that the existing provision as at the reporting date is adequate to cover
any possible cash outflows arising from the final outcome of these claims. The Company has elected not to
present the complete disclosures as required by IAS 37 “Provision and Contingent Linbilities and Contingent Assets”
as management is of the view that since the legal claims are sub-judice and are disputed, therefore this
information may be prejudicial to their position on these matters (note 24).

Furthermore, certain othet contingent liabilities may arise during the normal course of business, which
based on the information ptesently available, either cannot be quantified at this stage or in the opinion of
the management is without any merit. However, in the opinion of management, these contingent liabilities
are not likely to result in any cash outflows for the Group in addition to any related existing provisions
cutrently in the books.

‘The Group is in discussion to terminate naming rights with Road Transport Authority (RTA), the premature
termination may tesult in additional liability.
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32 Financial instruments

Financial assets of the Group include investments in securities, due from related patties, reinsurance contract
assets, trade and other receivables (excluding prepayment) and cash in hand and at banks. Financial liabilities
of the Group include term loans, due to telated parties, insurance contract liabilities, trade and other payables
and borrowings. The table below sets out the Group’s classification of each class of financial assets and financial

liabilities and their fair values for the cutrent and comparative year:

2022

Financial assets
Investments in secutities
Due from related parties
Reinsurance contract assets

Trade and othet receivables
Cash at banks

Financial liabilities
Borrowings

Due to related parties
Insurance contract liabilities
Trade and other payables

2021

Finaticial assets

Investments in securities
Due from related parties
Reinsurance contract assets
Trade and other receivables
Cash at banks

Financial labilities
Borrowings

Due to related patties
Insurance contract liabilites
Trade and other payables

Others at
Designated Designated  amortised  Cartying

as FVTPL as FVTOCI cost amount Fair value
AED *000 AED 000 AED’000 AED 000 AED 000
100,510 71,103 - 171,613 171,613

= - 5,844 5,844 5,844

- - 246,344 246,344 246,344

- - 416,021 416,021 416,021

- - 307,125 307,125 307,125

100,510 71,103 975,334 1,146,947 1,146,947

- - 2,048,405 2,048,405 2,048,405

- - 354,390 354,390 354,390

- - 573,184 573,184 573,184

- - 1,027,459 1,027,459 1,027,459

- - 4,003,438 4,003,438 4,003,438

101,868 74,682 - 176,550 176,550

. = 10,288 10,288 10,288

- - 258689 258,689 258,689

- - 525,880 525,880 525,880

= = 308,461 308,461 308,461

101,868 74,682 1,103,318 1,279,868 1,279,868

- - 2295240  2,295240 2,295.240

- - 436,249 436,249 436,249

- - 512,308 512,308 512,308

- - 1,081,738 1,081,738 1,081,738

- ~ 4325535 4325535 4,325,535
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32 Financial instruments (continued)
Credit risk

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure, The maximum exposure
to credit risk at the reporting date was:

2022 2021

AED ’000 AED 000

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and advances) 416,021 525,880
Due from related parties (note 13) 5,844 10,288
Reinsurance contract assets (note 15) 246,344 258,689
Cash at banks (note 106) 307,125 308,461
975,334 1,103,318

Trmpairment losses
The Group uses an allowance matrix to measute the ECLs of trade receivables from customers.

Movement in the allowance for expected credit losses in respect to trade receivables during the year is as
follows:

2022 2021

AED *000 AED *000

At 1 January 92,815 123,610
Chatge for the year — trade receivable 143,942 -
Write off of allowance for impairment (1,884) (30,795)
At 31 December 234,873 92,815

Based on histotical default rates and review of trade receivable balances, the Group’s management is of the
view that no further allowance of impairment is required against outstanding trade receivables.

2022 2021
Provision for expected credit loss AED 000 AED *000
Provision fot trade receivable 143,942 -
Provision for due from related patties 4,304 -
At 31 December 148,246 -
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32 Financial instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities at the reporting dates:
Carrying Contractual Less than
value cash flows 1year
AED ’000 AED 000 AED 000
2022
Financial liabilities
Bank botrowings (note 20) 2,048,405 2,048,405 2,048,405
Due to related patties (note 13) 354,390 354,390 354,390
Trade and other payables (note 14) 1,027,459 1,027,459 1,027,459
3,430,254 3,430,254 3,430,254
2021
Financial labilities
Bank borrowings (note 20) 2,295,240 2,295,240 2,205,240
Due to related parties (note 13) 436,249 436,249 436,249
Ttade and other payables (note 14) 1,081,738 1,081,738 1,081,738
3,813,227 3,813,227 3,813,227

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk relates to its deposits with banks and bank borrowings.

At the reporting date, the intetest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

2022 2021
AED *000 AED 000

Variable rate instruments
Financial assets 168,500 191,173
Financial liabilities (2,048,405) (2,295,240)
(1,879,905) (2,104,067)
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32 Financial instruments (continued)
Cash flow sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

A change of 1% in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other vatiables remain constant. This analysis is
performed on the same basis as 2021.

Equity
Increase Decrease
AED ’000 AED *000
At 31 December 2022
Variable rate instruments 18,799 (18,799)
At 31 December 2021
Variable rate instruments 21,041 (21,041)

Equity price risk

The Group’s exposure to equity price rate risk relates to its investments measured at fair value through
paeRpo quity p ; ed
profit ot loss and investments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

At the repotting date, the equity price profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

2022 2021

AED 000 AED "000

Investments measured at FVIPL (note 10) 100,510 101,868
Investments measured at FVTOCI (note 10) 71,103 74,682
171,613 176,550

Cash flow sensitivity analysis for equity instruments

A change of 1% in equity rates at the repotting date would have increased/(decreased) equity by the
amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other vatiables remain constant. This analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2021.

Equity
Increase Decrease
AED ’000 AED ’000
At 31 December 2022
Equity instruments 1,716 1,716
At 31 December 2021
Equity instruments 1,766 (1,766)
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32 Financial instruments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as 2 whole:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that ate observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from ptices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset ot liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

For financial instruments that ate recognised at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines

whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on

the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AED 000 AED *000 AED *000
2022
Financial assets
Investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
Quoted equity investments 67,758 - -
Unquoted equity investments - - 3,345
67,758 - 3,345
Investments measured at fair value through
profit or loss (FVTPL)
Quoted equity investments 30,369 - -
Unquoted equity investments - - 70,141
30,369 - 70,141
2021
Financial assets
Investments measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
Quoted equity investments 71,265 - -
Unquoted equity investments - - 3417
71,265 - 3,417
Investments measured at fait value through
profit or loss (FVTPL)
Quoted equity investments 30,391 - -
Unquoted equity investments - = 71,477
30,391 - 71,477
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32 Financial instrtuments (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Duting the current yeat, thete wete no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and
no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value measurements.

The fair values of unquoted equity investments have been determined by an external, qualified and
independent valuer who has expetience in equity investments valuations.

33 Financial risk management objectives

Owverview

The Group has exposute to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

o  Market risk;

®  (Credit risk; and

e Liquidity risk.

This note presents information about the Group’s exposute to each of the above risks, the Group’s
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of

capital. Furthermore, quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated financial
statements.

Risk management framework

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group’s risk
management framework and monitoring the Group’s tisk management policies. The Group’s risk
management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adhetence to limits. Risk management policies and systems
are reviewed regulatly to reflect changes in market conditions. The Group, through its training and
management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control
environment, in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates, intetest rates and equity
ptices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters,
while optimising the return. There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the
mannet in which it manages and measures the risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of change in foreign
exchange rate. The Group does not have any significant exposure to foreign currency risk since the majority
of transactions are denominated in AED.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through investments held by the Group and classified as fair
value through profit ot loss and fair value through other comprehensive income.
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33 Financial risk management objectives (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market interest rates. The Group has bank deposits, loans and borrowings which carries normal commercial
interest rates.

Credit risk

Credit isk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterpatty to a financial instrument
fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s trade and other receivables,
reinsurance contract assets, due from related parties and cash at banks.

Trade and other receivables (excluding insurance receivables) and due from related parties

The Group’s credit tisk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables and due from related
parties. The amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position are net of the allowances
for expected credit losses.

In monitoring credit risk, customers and related parties are grouped according to their credit characteristics,
including their legal status, geogtaphic location, industry, aging profile, maturity and evidence of previous
financial difficulties.

The Gtoup’s exposure to credit tisk is influenced mainly by individual characteristics of the customers;
however, the Group is collecting advances from customers on a periodical basis and the handover of
properties to the customets will take place only after final settlement of all dues by them.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of
counterparties and customets,

Reinsurance contract assets (including insurance receivables)

Reinsurance is placed with reinsurers” approved by the management, which are generally international
reputed companies. To minimise its exposute to significant losses from reinsurer insolvencies, the Group
evaluates the financial condition of its reinsurets and monitors concentrations of credit risk arising from
similar geographic regions, activities or economic characteristics of the reinsurers.

At each reporting date, management petforms an assessment of creditworthiness of reinsurers’ and updates
the reinsurance purchase strategy, ascertaining suitable allowance for impairment if required. Compliance
with the policy is monitoted and exposures and breaches are regulatly reviewed for pertinence and for
changes in the risk environment.

Cash at banks

The Group limits its exposure to credit risk by placing balances with local and international banks. Given
the profile of its bankers, management does not expect any counter party to fail to meet its obligations. All
the bank balances are held with banks of repute.

Impairment of cash at banks has been measured on a 12-month expected loss basis and reflects the short
maturities of the exposures. The Group considers that its cash at banks have low credit risk based on the
external credit ratings of the counterparties.
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33 Financial risk management objectives (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity tisk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with
its financial liabilities that are settled by deliveting cash or another financial asset. Ultimate responsibility
for liquidity tisk management rests with the Boatrd of Directors, who have built an approptiate liquidity
tisk management framewotk for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding
and liquidity management tequirements. The Gtoup manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate
tesetves, by continuously monitoting forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of
financial assets and liabilities (refer to note 20).

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the retutn to shareholdets and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structute to reduce the cost of capital. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2021.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings cash and cash equivalents and equity;
comptising share capital, reserves (other than land revaluation and cumulative change in fair value) and
accumulated losses.

Gearing ratio
The Group teviews the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the Group considers the cost
of capital and the tisks associated with capital.

The geating ratio at the year-end was as follows:

2022 2021

AED00 AED00

Debt (notes 20 and 21) 2,606,968 2,930,980
Cash in hand and at banks (note 16) (307,125) (310,288)
Net debt 2,299,843 2,620,692
Equity 121,945 381,412
Net debt to equity ratio (times) 18.9 6.9

Insurance - Asset liability management (“ALM”)

Financial tisks atise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are
exposed to general and specific matket movements. The main risk that the Group faces due to the nature
of its investments and liabilities is interest rate tisk and equity price risk. The Group manages these positions
within an ALM framework that has been developed by management to achieve long-term investment
returns in excess of its obligations under insurance and investment contracts.

The Group’s ALM is also integrated with the management of the financial risks associated with the Group’s
other financial assets and liabilities not ditectly associated with insurance and investment Liabilities.

The Group’s ALM also forms an integral part of the insurance fisk management policy, to ensute in each
period sufficient cash flow is available to meet liabilities arising from insurance.
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33 Financial risk management objectives (continued)
Insurance - Asset liability management (“ALM”) (continued)

Insurance risks

The Group accepts insurance risk through its written insurance contracts. The Group is exposed to
uncertainty surrounding the dming, frequency and severity of claims under these contracts. The Group
writes the following types of general insurance and life assurance contracts:

General insurance contracts Life assurance contracts
- Liability insurance - Group life insurance
- Property insurance - Credit life insurance

- Motor insurance

- Fire insurance

- Medical insurance

- Marine insurance

- Engineering insurance

The principal tisk the Group faces under insurance contracts is that the actual claims and benefit payments
or the timing thereof, differ from expectations. This is influenced by the frequency of claims, severity of
claims, actual benefits paid and subsequent development of long-term claims. Therefore, the objective of
the Group is to ensute that sufficient reserves are available to cover these liabilities.

The above risk exposure is mitigated by diversification across a large portfolio of insurance contracts. The
vatiability of risks is also imptoved by careful selection and implementation of underwriting strategy
guidelines, as well as the use of reinsurance arrangements. The Group only issue short term insurance
contracts in connection with property, motor, marine and casualty risks.

34 Segment information

The intetnal management reports that are prepared under IFRS are reviewed by the Board of Directors
based on the different sectors in which the Group operates. The Group has identified the following
different sectors as its basis of segmentation:

Reportable segments Operations

Mannfacturing Includes manufacture and sale of oil, lubricants, grease, prefabricated
houses, conctete, carpentty, restaurant, ovens, kitchens and central air
conditioning systems.

Tnnvestments Includes investments in real estate properties and equity securities.

Insurance services and others Service and other operations include writing of insurance and various
other services including hospitality.

Information regarding the operations of each separate segment is included below. Performance is measured
based on segment profit as management believes that profit is the most relevant factor in evaluating the
results of cettain segments relative to other entities that operate within these industries. There ate regular
transactions between the segments and any such transaction is priced on mutually agreed terms.
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1- Company’s Governance Practices for the
year 2022

Gulf General Investments Co. PSC is committed to
the application of the principles of corporate
governance, to its highest level, and has derived its
values from a system which integrates ethics,
corporate integrity and leading compliant practices.
fairness, disclosure, and

accountability have been central to the working

Transparency,

philosophy of the company, its management, and
Board of Directors. To this end, the company’s
Corporate Governance framework considers the
principles adopted and standards set by the
Securities & Commodities Authority (SCA), Dubai
Financial Market (DFM) and the Federal law No (2)
of 2015 on Commercial Companies in setting the
direction and GGICO. The
company has applied SCA’s Resolution No. (7 R.M)
of 2016 concerning the Standards of Institutional
Discipline and Governance of Public Shareholding

requirements for

Companies, which is considered as an integral part
of the Company’s Articles of Association,

The following are some examples of the company’s

application of the principles of corporate

governance:

e During 2022, a total of 5 meeting was held
periodically and convened by the Board of
Directors,. The BoDs discharged their
responsibilities according to the powers

granted to them.

e The BOD appointed financial and legal advisors
last year to have better decision making as per
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the SCA requirement. Both advisors are able to
support the company within their capacity.

e It's been ensured that the transactions carried
out by the Board members and senior officers
follow the prevailing laws and regulations.

e The company adhered to the regulations
concerning the transparency in disclosures
made including the disclosures of the Board's
meetings dates and any decisions that might
have an effect over the share price.

2- Board of Directors Disclosure

In practicing their duties, the Board of Directors are
fully aware of, and clearly understand all applicable
laws, rules, and regulations to comply with them
under any circumstances. Therefore, the Directors
fulfil their responsibilities diligently and in
accordance with the principles of integrity,
fairness, and in compliance with the professional
standards.

It is worth mentioning that there are no
transactions by the Board of Directors or their first-
degree relatives in the company's shares during the
year 2022.
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2 -Board of Directors Disclosure “cont'd”

Statement of the Board of Directors, their
spouse and first-degree relatives’ dealings on
the company’s securities during 2022:

PARA\ P PEY

Total Shares

adl ddles Jlaal

Total Shares

o LaS A8 glaall g )
2022/12/31

Shares owned as of

(B ulaa slas) cdlalaty ol —

A A il 5 agalil g BN Calaa elae) cdlalal gl
AN Jgaall U 2022 alad) A ASpdll dullal)

Purchased Sold 31/12/2022
Y gy auyY BN alaa iy * gl dran dilae /o) 1
/ / / _
Nil Nil il Chairman of the Board Mr. Abdalla Juma Al Sari*
i il * T \
X LR a9y A . gl B0 Jﬁ_:*h A 2
Nil Nil Nil Deputy Chairman Mr. Majld Abdalla Al Sari
L -
e Y
Nil Nil 9,531,103 Spouse
LR any s
Nil Nil 4,165,605 - Children -
o 2y 2y L Vil ye sadgu iy |3
! / / Mr. Hamad Saif Hamad Abdalla Al
Nil Nil Nil Member Mbheiri
Sl — S pas * ol bl de o daaa/uldl |4
/ / / Mr. Mohamed Ali Abdalla Al Sari*
Nil Nil Nil Member

* First degree relatives (wife and children) for

the  )<aall salall (V) 5 dagyll) o) dapall e el VI *

above-mentioned Board members, did not have any
dealings in securities of the company in 2022.

Dha 3, 3l Ll 3he¥) 8 Dbt A agel 2a5 Y e
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3- Board of Directors Composition

a. Statement of qualifications of the BoDs

A gall g ) pad)
Academic Qualification

Al guas
Member

Suhi S
Non-

G0

Executive

BN palaa JiS5 -3
Gy adlas) cAje Ol s HIY) (alaa S35 -

: A J ganl

Non-
Independent

& Experience
Gy Blgd e Jals
HES 5 - Aalll il
o g Saaiall Al —

S e

High academic and
professional
qualification from
West Riding
Constabulary — UK,
sitting as a board
member on various
companies

Since

1990

Executive

Independent

v o) A2 [ g
laa L;_)uil dzan

Mr. Abdalla
Chairman | Juma Al Sari
of the
Board

& oIS Baled Jeay
LYl e Jlae ¥ 3l
Balgdy AS el Baadall
shladl 3 4 daiia
S oSy s e
Jleel Ja | sasdiall ASlaall

daline S bl p

Bachelor's degree in
business
administration from
the USA and a
professional
certification in Risk
Management from
Oxford University —UK.
Businessman running
different companies.

2017/10/5

v e N e
Azaa Ll s

g

Deputy | Mr. Maijid
Chairman | Abdalla
Juma Al Sari

a3 ) IS5 3l sy
¢ ol dadla (e 1984 L
Aikia pie il Gl Jads
el 53] Apashal 38 L0
L oalaldl
Bachelor's Degree in
literature from Al Ain
University — 1984,
Former Deputy General
Manager of Sharjah
educational zone for
private education.

2012

v - Lo/} 3

Le daa cia

é)ﬁ.dl:m

Member | Mr. Hamad
Saif Hamad
Abdalla Al

Mheiri




S5 pall g ) i)
Academic Qualification & Experience

ClBtally WSe Y i ey IS Sl e Joala
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aeaie Jad dgleasdly 4 jlailly deluall S Al
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e gome ppalill Al gl jiall 48538 50 e
A ladlly Aeluall GlS Al e yaall e 3l
dlarall

Holds a bachelor’'s degree in Media and
International Relations from the UAE
University. He has 30 years’ experience in
managing industrial, commercial, and
service companies. He served as Chairman of
Takaful Al Emarat Insurance Company.
Member of the Board of Directors of Al Sagr
National Insurance Company. Managing
director of several industrial, commercial,
and service companies

dia s
Member
Since

14/5/2018

GuiD
Non-
Executive

“Contin uedu/ 4&»

Executive

afliae) coje Ghy s SN Gulaa JuSia
Jhiana

Independent Title

daxa [/ dad)
Al ue

-ki;)“ji

Mr.
Mohamed Ali
Abdalla Al

*Sari

Member




3- Board of Directors Composition

BoDs membership in other publicly listed

companies and their
prominent entities

titles in any other

5 Calaa Jugis -3

5 il daalue a8 A 3 5aY) Lalae elimel digac

AV dagall lgall e (gl 3 pgualia

Chairman of the Board

Al Sagr National Insurance Company
PSC

Title [cuaiall Company [4Syal) Member | saall
B! (alaa () onelall Auikagll jaeall A< Gl dzen 2 23l [l

Mr. Majid Abdalla Juma Al Sari

g Y

None

g Y

None

Srgall s das )
Mr. Hamad Saif Hamad Abdalla Al
Mheiri

Bl alaa guiac

Board Member

opelill duibagll jaoall 3555
Al Sagr National Insurance Company
PSC

Gl 4 ae __s_lr. _\m/ 2l
Mr. Mohamed Ali Abdalla Al Sari

b- Females’ representation in
during the year 2022.

the company’s BOD

¢- There is currently no female representation in

the Board of Directors.

nomination for a female representative during

We will call for

the meetings of the Board of Directors, where

an item will be included in
next General Assembly.

the invitation to the

alall 5lY) alaa 3 Sl geaiall i iy Gl - @

2022

bl se i IV e 3 S Qe Ulls 2 ¥ -
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3- Board of Directors Composition “cont'd” i I Gulaa Jug5 -3

d- BOD Remuneration: 15V Ll eliac) il — &

Total Remunerations paid to the Board s o degaall 5la¥) Gusa elael SilKe g gens
of Directors in 2022 ) 1
None 2022 Ll
Total Remunerations proposed to be o oo dagiaall 5laY) Ladse eliael GlSe ggane
aid to the Board of Directors in 2022 . 2
P None 2022 Al
The Board of Directors fees for attending adaal olallly 5aY) palae Slads jedas ¥
meetings during the year 2022, total i
Lael ae &l dus 2022 ble o alaall ¢
Board members were 4 and the total : S eeE o
meeting reached 5 Board meetings. g Y 5 olallly pulaad) lads  Jaaly sbiacl 4 (sl 3
None . duds
Details of the additional allowances, o Al ) S <ll 5 Nl sl
salaries, or fees charged by the Board of g Y Jeas SV G Y Gulas giae lalala A
Director, other than the fees for None Lesads el
attending the committees and their
reasons




3- Board of Directors Composition " B Calaa iS5 -3
“cont'd”

e - BoDs meetings convened during D cie L 51 Gdae el 2e —
2022. " 5022

e o daas

Gyl Al Gngall daa [ dall Gyead) 2ala faud) ) B 3 [l ) ey
Mr. Mohamed Ali M- I-;an;ad :alf;_“ b:’t:' Majid N M Abdalla fiima / g laiay)
Abdalla Al Sari Hamad Abdalla Abdalla Juma Al Sari Nty :
Mheiri Sari Meeting No.

- s e = 23/03/2022 axé!

Attended Attended Attended Attended First

. i o - 28/04/2022 Second
Attended Attended Attended Attended

Slal

s it als ol 12/05/2022 Third
Attended Attended Attended Attended

&Ll

el pals Seals pala 11/08/2022 Fourth
Attended Attended Attended Attended

" 1 & Cpsalal

; ala e ala )

o = o 10/11/2022 Fifth

Attended Attended Attended Attended
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3- Board of Directors Composition “cont’'d” " B palaa JugiS -3

f- There was no Board of Directors meeting Al D el i al el 3 ol =
held by circulation during 2022. ' o

g- Duties carried out by executive LY Ly cudlh ol HIY laa ilialiaitl  plea =¢

management based on the mandate from I I Gudaall (pe ansdi e leliy duduaml)

BoDs.
Guandl Al cladlall JalSs 51 palaa aialy

The Board has the full authorities and powers 9_“1“‘\;1 Alailly Gaanlill dial Gy lliy ASaN ilaal
necessary to achieve the objectives of the L ) - -y

company which is stated as per its e duld Siladd iagar BIY) Gulas sy ¢ 45,40
Memorandum and Articles of Association, A$5Al dpasd) Jlee V) puadl Sibadlall BB (e s

through written instructions the Board iy ol ) dasiall Gladlall o3 daag Ay

manage the company’s day-to-day operations, dagiadl Sladtall by e e 5oyl palaal 2d g

the results of such delegated powers are Agmgi o3 Al il ggasally
translated into periodic reports submitted to

delegated some of those powers as required to

the Board of Directors for exercising proper
accountability by linking the authorities
granted with the responsibilities discharged.

h- Statement of transactions with related R e
parties. gy 5 Al daph zuag ae (Alhadl claual)

« Jalanll

As of 31/12/2022 the balance due from/to S a dugllaall saa)¥) <l 2022/12/31 )l LS

related parties were as follows: [ b LS ke ilu

11



Thousand AED /

Due from Related Parties X Ao ) dibhl e Ciliats
ah ya ]}

Associates and Joint Ventures B dluy lS,s
Other Related Parties 5,844 Wle aly gal Gkl
Due To Related Parties ANe aild dilll ciliaioa
Associates and Joint Ventures - by @l
Other Related Parties 354,390 e o gl Gkl
Transactions 1 Shlalaall
During 2022, the Group entered the Calyhl e 2000 cDaleal) 2022 ple Pha
following transactions with related parties )

i b o] i T
who are not members of the Group egapall b sl Cunl A Sl
Interest charged by a related party 30,868 Adle by Cayhal g
Gross premium 2,728 Llayl Jlesl
Claims paid (393) degine Dlllas
Commission paid on rented properties 620 Slang b Jilie degine Agac

12



3- Board of Directors Composition “cont’'d” " BN Gulaa Jogi5 -3

i- Company’s Organization Chart. R i) SN R

GGICO PSC
Board of Directors

Deputy CEO

Head of
e Subsidianies Subsidianes

(&7 I8
GGICO

13



3- Board of Directors Composition “cont’'d” oy BN ulaa (€35 -3

j- Statement of the company’s Senior Management. sl bl LSS s ol =

First line
Jo¥l Caall

- fa " e - N e
clalsall Eoada il ) (el

alal ds géaall N )y A giaal)

il 23 o3y
(05 2022 | (2022 s | HEE e 2

Total Total Date of Join Job Title
Bonuses for Remuneration
2022 (AED) 2022 (AED)
gaiyll [l el 2L uaie
‘J" axall

= 1

Managing Director/CEO* | Vacant position

2016/8/31 & U 2 el *
*Vacant since 31/8/2016

Sitis 3aiud gl 2022 alall dyie Ak (gA) DB 4l 22y Y

There are no other cash Bonus or in kind for the year 2022 or is due in the future.




dc ghaal) GBSl £ oana

s ghaal) iy ) ggana

add) 2022 alad pe

(#2) £ (a8,8) alad Al Oaadl) 7l
Total

2022 Bonuses for

(AED)

Total Remuneration Date of Join JOb Title
2022 (AED)

Sl il il
- 1,761,564 1990/02/22 : E
Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Sl i 5l

= 2
1,144,944 2010/02/01 Deputy Chief Executive Officer

atigh anidll e

3
436,570 2014/08/13 Head of Engineering

Mitise Gaiud gl 2022 alall duie /A5 (5a) DBISe 4l 2290 Y
There were no other cash Bonuses or in kind for the year 2022 or is due in the future.



4- Statutory Auditor

a- About the Statutory Auditor

Grant Thornton is one of the largest external audit
firms in the world, was founded in the U.A.E. in 1966,
the firm has branches in the UAE in Abu Dhabi and
Dubai, also owns branches in the Middle East
countries, North Africa and around the world.

GGICO’s Annual General Assembly held in 2022
appointed Grant Thornton as the company’s
statutory auditor based on the decision of the
General Assembly Meeting held on 28™ April 2022,
for carrying out quarterly reviews and yearend
audits over the company’s financial statements to
determine whether, the statements present fairly in
all material respects — this includes the company's
financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows, and to ensure that they are in conformity with
the local laws and regulations and the Generally
Accepted Accounting Principles GAAP and the
International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS.
The agreed fees for providing such services
amounted to AED 250,000.

For more information, please visit the

website: http://www.grantthornton.ae

AN albluall g —4
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4- Statutory Auditor

b- Details of the Statutory Auditor

“continued”

i AN alluall a4

Al Clesdl) 5 Al Aaladl Cadlsal 5 Gl -

D Cllall i lgass

Oy il Gl CaSa ol
Statutory Auditor’s Name Grant

Thornton

Gl bl Lo
Name of the partner Dr. Osama El- <lpall aul

Barky
Number of years as a Statutory Auditor 4 A5l s 3aaS laliad Al Slgu) e
Professional fee, in AED, for Financial AED/pa,: 2022 alad &Ll Sllall dxalyall /8l il Jlaa
Statements Audit/review for the vyear 250,000
2022
Nature & Details of other services Nil/ 253 P! Lasiall Sleasll dalay Juali
provided: )
Professional fee for any other services _ G0 Bl gAY daldll cleddl Al Sl
other than the audited financial N'I/J‘-‘-”Y 2202 Al ddldl bl
statements for the year 2022
Professional  services provided by | AEP [ | e 9A) pals GBS (SiSa (a Loske dpigs Slosa
statutory audit firms other than Grant 12022 Lladl dalay (e Cuilys
Thornton and relate to 2022:
- UHY James Chartered 4,500 =¥ 830 38x Jle) :uas gl 01 9 -

Accountants: RERA Audit

DY
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4- Statutory Auditor “continued”

c- Qualified opinions made by the company’s
statutory auditor in the interim and annual
financial statements for 2022

Py AN clluall g@u -4

Allslly lgimaaly ASHAN Cllua @i a3 Cllaad) ¢

2022 alall digiadly datasall Al

During the year, statutory auditor has made some
qualified opinion as per below.

The interest on borrowings of the Group aggregates
to an amount of AED 106 million (2021: AED 94.5
million). The interest cost has not been recorded in
the consolidated financial statements since 1 January
2020. Had these interest been recognized in the
consolidated financial statements for the year, the
Group’s finance costs and loss for the year would
increased by AED 106 million and the
accumulated losses, net current liabilities and total

have

liabilities of the Group would have increased by AED
323 million.

The Group settled AED 187 million of its borrowing by
disposing its investments in shares and property
which was pledged to the bank. However, the
auditors were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to confirm that the borrowings had
been reduced by the aforementioned amount.
Consequently, the auditors were unable to determine
whether any adjustments to the borrowing were

necessary.

The auditors draw attention to note 31 of the
consolidated financial statements, which indicates
that the group has several ongoing litigations initiated
by creditors. No provision has been recorded against
these litigations as the matter is sub judice. The
auditors were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to determine the impact of these

o Sl e gl @aal sl ¢ aledl Pls

¢ olal sl gal

flie degandll g i o sl Mlaa) il cdiddl Dl
(D! p2)3 O3a 94.5 :2021) Shlal a2)1 O5ile 106
Mo dnanall LW L1l o3a BN QWSS Jaaass o3y o
L) ailgall & 55Ul 03gy alie V) 5 51 .2020 plw 1
Ll deganall Jogai jiludy CalSs il cdinll daanall
Alall culSy Shlel aap Ggde 106 ke oy 3
Gl sy dgladl Gl ilay 4l
Skl a0 (gale 323 Hlaie al) 8 deganall

a2y Osle 187 pdie gty doganall Caald i) Pla
amaalls Wbl alainl Gub pe ag il (e Sk
Al ey e a2l LGl gl digaye culS Al il
A al e Sl 48 385 AN e Jgeanll e oSau
o Al daiy codlel oSl aluall (N g il madds

g il Wb il 5)g pm (gl a3 e oSl

Al il Jga 31 o) L) ) ol cuili of 358
Oe wal) & Wk desanal of M el (3l cAaanal
i al L ostlall Caila (e deghyall A3l diliadl) (ggleall
Y ¥l ol G diladll (gyleal) sdgl Jarada g 2a)

3% A e Jgeanll (o oSau ol Lelaill lai ad JNy
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Iiﬁgations and if any adjustments were necessary in
relation to the borrowings.

The auditors draw attention to note 2 of the
consolidated financial statements, which indicates
that the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by AED 2,720 million as at 31
December 2022 (2021: AED 2,908 million).
Furthermore, the group has defaulted on its payment
obligations to creditors and several creditors have
initiated legal proceedings against the group. These
events and conditions indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that cast significant doubt on the

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

<ilS 13 Lag uL.an-I_l L.;ju.;l_n a 5ol maanl duliag a.,als'
s Al odgy (Bl Lad Ay e Blaad A llia
Ll il Jga 2 o8y Flayl ) olimVl cuils o 3y
i ganall Agluiall SLlEN GF ) el 535 cdaanall
S LS a0 Gaile 2,720 laias dlghsial) Lelgaal jslas
Bke (a2 Osale 2,908 :2021) 2022 jiawn 31
Ml bl cligh oo desanall cailas (alld e
e ganall 2 A5l Silehal bl e taall Ty il
6 SR O pie 33 ) iy lally Bl ol s
dalye o degendl 5B Jn g i 5l ails
Al T iy ellee]

5- Audit Committee

a- Acknowledgement of the Audit Committee

The  Audit the
responsibility for the committee’s system in the

Committee  acknowledges
company and for the review of its work mechanism
and ensuring its effectiveness. The Audit Committee
contributes to the Board of Directors carrying out the
responsibilities imposed by the company’s corporate
governance in us related to risk management,
internal control systems, accounting policies and the
preparation of financial reports.

b- Composition of the Audit Committee

The Audit Committee is composed as follows:
1- Mr. Majid Abdalla Al Sari / Member

2- Mr. Hamad Saif Almheiri / Member

a8l Aal-5

Gbal) Aiad Gty g B —
ASAl A dalll sl e gl gsaa Gl dad i
Qi aged + gidlad (Sl lolae DY dinalie 0oy
)i Al Sldgiuall 5V Gdaa plE 4 G
L dakaily Hhlaal) slab sl b clS)al i

L) ol daely dpulaall Jaall cluliny ddala

(adal) :Llal slac| - -
D adjlanl AUl salldl (e gaXl daad S

Gall e 2ale [ all -1

Wi@mwi -2
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c- Roles & Responsibilities of the Audit Committee

1. Review of
accounting policies and procedures.

reports and financial information (annual, half-
annual, and quarterly) and review thereof as part
of the normal work duties during the year, and
the committee shall particularly focus on the
following:

c-Roles & Responsibilities of the Audit Committee

d.

Monitoring the integrity of the company’s

the company’s financial and

Any changes in accounting policies and
practices.

Highlighting the aspects that are subject to
the management’s discretion.

Substantial amendments resulting from
auditing.

Supposing continuity of the company’s
business.

Abidance by the accounting standards
approved by the Authority.

Abidance by the rules of listing and disclosure
and any other legal requirements related to
preparation of financial reports.

with the
management, senior executive management,

Coordinating company’s
and the financial manager or the manager
doing such role in the company, for the
purpose of performing its duties.

Considering important and unusual clauses
that are or shall be mentioned in such reports
and accounts and, accordingly, giving the
required attention to any issues brought up by
the financial manager, the manager doing
such role, compliance officer, or the auditor.
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Submitting a recommendation to the Board of
Directors respecting selection, resignation, or
discharge of the auditor, and in case the Board
of Directors rejects the recommendations of
the auditing committee in this regard, the
in the
governance report a statement clarifying the

Board of Directors shall include
recommendations of the auditing committee
and the reasons for the Board of Directors’
rejection thereof.

Setting and implementing the policy of
contracting with the auditor, submitting a
report to the Board of Directors, specifying the
issues the committee deems necessary to take
procedures in relation to, and submitting the
committee’s recommendations concerning

the steps required to be taken.

Ensuring the auditor’s fulfillment of the terms
stipulated in the applicable laws, regulations,
and resolutions and the company’s articles of
association, and following up and monitoring
his/her independence.

Meeting with the company’s auditor without
attendance of any of the personnel of the
senior executive management or
representative thereof, at least once annually,
and discussing with him/her the nature and
scope of the auditing process and its
effectiveness according to the approved

auditing standards.

Studying all that is related to the job and work
plan of the auditor, his/her correspondence
with the his/her
proposals, and any substantial

company, comments,
concerns,
inquiries posed by the auditor to the senior
executive

management concerning

accounting boaoks, financial accounts, or
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control systems and following up the ¢ Al 5yl Alaial (g dasliay AEl daladf
company’s management response thereto Lall 2 =y oo
alany 4da) Q,L;é....._d.i’ X
and provision of the facilities required for e ? ’ R

performing his/her job.

10- Ensuring timely response of the Board of so sthall gl 8 By udaa 3y o <t =10
Directors to inquiries for illustration and
substantial matters mentioned in the auditor’s oy @ daphal el diludy Slalana

letter. «Slluall (3830

11- Review and assessment of internal control and bl sl aalal 460 Labl auiigdanlye  —11
risk management systems in the company. )
A8

12- Discussing the internal control system with the Shlly (oY) ulae e dlslal QBN AUk A8la —12

Board of Directors and ensuring the latter’s T T NaE U ol kel (280
establishment of an effective system for o A el o) el ) ] il 2

internal control.
13- Considering the results of primary W Jilue (B ) Dladaill mits 4 kil -13
investigations in internal control issues as e ol &5 5l BV alaa Lgn LA Al &l
assigned to the committee by the Board of
Directors or based on an initiative on the part
of the committee and the Board of director’s

approval of such initiative.
14- Review of the auditor’s assessment of internal sl AN Slehay Gl s e gALY) -14

control proce.dures and ensuring coordination AR bl 3i0a cp Lad el 35ng ya Sl
between the internal and external auditors.
\?_;)ls.ﬂ x;lLlL.u;\ﬂ [jid.n_g

15- Ensuring availability of the resources required LRI LE 5y LUyl s e SEIN —15
for the internal control department and )

monitoring effectiveness of such department. B ebadlad A8 dasliay

16- Studying internal control reports and follow Slehal! 20 dasliey dlalall LU )l Al -16
up implementation of corrective measures for g Byl illaaSial A a
the comments arising from such reports.

17- Setting the rules that enable the company’s EV) e AN ihge (S A Blsesll gny —17
staff to confidentially report any potential ERER ji ALl el A Aldas clillas il e
violations in financial reports, internal control,
or any other issues and the procedures
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sufficient for conducting independent and just Clghaally (g IS8 Jilaall e lje ol adaal

investigations concerning such violations. . . .. ;
PR\ 1) { N | I | dd.}L;j aldis -;JLL_AJ:I ab;l.l ﬁ.i:uiﬂ'l

18- Monitoring the extent to which the company gl Sl elgh AS,AN MK 53 ABle  —18
abides by code of conduct rules. '

19- Review of related party transactions with the Apal we A G LBV clles deale -19

company, ensuring that no conflict of interests i — <t
exists, and submitting recommendations = & e e e =
concerning such transactions to the Board of Ngabyl J8 51 Gulaal il duagilly

Directors before concluding contracts.
20- Ensuring implementation of code of conduct algar  Aalall Jaedl 2ol 3l e 20

related to the committee’s duties and powers Y1 e U e Leal) 2S5l cladally
assigned to it by the Board of Directors.

21- Submitting reports and recommendations to Jilall e Y1 Gudae ) Slaasilly pliall aass —21
the Board of Directors concerning the above- alall sda 3 53)lslly kel 5)5Sall

mentioned issues as stipulated in this article.

Ba¥1 udae laaay (gal clegmge dl 4 jlall —22
22- Considering any other issues determined by G ' Lo e o

the Board of Directors.

a- Audit Committee meetings held during 2022: 2022 ale M @l dal clelaia) e

Sl (e

Sl Aras Alllas 2ale [ o) Sogall daa/ ) glaayl a
Mr. Majid Abdalla Juma Al Sari Mr. Hamad Al Mheiri Meeting Date Meeting No.
rals als Js¥!
12/05/2022
Attended Attended First
ala _pala sal
10/11/2022 -
Attended Attended Second




6-Nomination & Remuneration Committee

a- Acknowledgement of the Chairman of the
Committee

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee,
acknowledges the responsibility for the
committee’s system in the company and for the
review of its work mechanism and verification of
effectiveness. The
Remuneration Committee reports to the Board

its Nomination and

of Directors and make recommendations
regarding the challenges facing the company
and the skills and experience needed in the
future.

b- Composition of the Committee

The Nomination and remuneration Committee is
composed as follows:

1- Mr. Hamad Saif Almheiri / Member
2- Mr. Majid Abdalla Juma Al Sari / Member
c-Roles & Responsibilities of the Committee

Setting a policy for nomination for Board and
executive management membership with the
aim of varying between the two genders
respecting formation of both and encouraging
female nominees and submitting a copy of such
policy to the Authority and any amendments
thereof.
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el Gy o B
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pland

pae — (Gugal G e [l -1
gac — (Gl dilae aale [ 2l 22

Pl g Glagdial Al Gllgiae g alga ¢

BIVly HlaY) Gulae Ligumal il dals Ll g -1

S Gava piadl Gu aasill slehe g )

by Aulad) oda e Ady Angl) 3llsas (il auaii
JLede Tl Sl

24




Regulating and following up the procedures
of nomination for Board membership in
accordance with the applicable laws and the
provisions of this resolution.

Constantly verifying independence of

independent Board members.

If the committee finds out that one of the
independence, the
committee shall bring the issue before the

members has lost
Board of Directors to serve a registered
letter to such member at his/her address
registered at the company, clarifying the

reasons for the loss of independency.

Setting the policy on which basis bonuses,
privileges, incentives, and salaries shall be
granted to the company’s Board members
and staff, reviewing such policy annually,
and ensuring that the bonuses and privileges
offered to the senior executive management
are reasonable and in line with the
company’s performance.

Annual review of the skills required for
Board membership and preparation of the
required capabilities and qualifications for
Board membership including the time a
member shall need to allocate to do his/her
duties as a Board member.

Review of the structure of the Board of
Directors and submitting recommendation

respecting the changes that may be made.

need of
of the senior

Determining the
competencies at the

company’s
level
executive management and the staff and the
basis for selection thereof.
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Setting the policy of human resources and training in
the company, monitoring implementation of such
policy and review thereof on annual basis.

s JS Wginalay lginles

a- N & R Committee meetings held in 2022

There was no N&R committee meeting held during
the year.

2022 A clilgally aland il ddal alelada) s —a

D bl bl Ll plaal @) sie
)

7- Insiders’ Trading Follow up & Supervision
Committee

a- Acknowledgement of the Chairman of the
Committee

Mr. Mohamed Ali Al Sari, Head of Committee,
acknowledges his responsibility for the
committee’s system in the company and for his
review of its work mechanism and verification of
its effectiveness.

b- Composition of the Committee

The Committee is composed as follows:

1. Mr. Mohamed Ali Al Sari- Head of Committee
2. Mr. Ali Naji Kaddoura - Member

3. Mr. Zakaria Dadi Attassouli - Member

Roles & Responsibilities of the Committee

- Prepare written rules and procedures to
govern the trading of Board members and
employees in the securities issued by the
company or its parent company,
subsidiaries, or its sister companies. This

GalAdY) clalad o GidN) g Aslia Adal -7
Omadlaal)
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manual will then be presented to
management for endorsement and to the

Board of Directors for approval.

- Prepare a special and comprehensive
register of all insiders, including persons
who could be considered as insiders on a
temporary basis and who are entitled to or
have access to inside information of the
company prior to publication.

- The committee will also be responsible for
the
supervision of insiders' trading and their
holdings, maintain the register and submit
periodic reports to DFM.

management, follow-up, and

c-Summary of the Committee’s work in 2022:

No trades on the company’s shares, by insiders,
took place during the year 2022.
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8- Internal Control System

a- Board of Directors’ acknowledgment Summary

The Internal Control Department performs its duties
in accordance with governance requirements and
corporate discipline standards detailed in the
Charter, which
includes ensuring the Operational effectiveness of

Internal Control Department’s

the company’s risk management, compliance
standards and system of internal Control. The

internal control department reports to the Board of

adila) 48 a0 -8
Jandl &) g BlaY) Qulaa LA -
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Directors and its employees perform their duties
objectively and independently.

b- Head of Internal Control & Compliance: Name &
Qualifications

Mr. Sharij Hamza is the company’s Internal Control
and Compliance Officer. Mr. Sharij is holding
Master’s degree in Business Administration with
specialization in Finance. In addition to holding a
Master’s degree, he has extensive experience in the
field of accounting and financial analysis for more
than 10 years.

c- Internal Control Department Updates.

As part of the cost reduction company, the internal
control department did not carry out any activity as
the audit committee and the board of directors
decided to strengthen the department by appointing
an external internal control service provider to
submit reports.

d-Number of reports issued.
Due to the absence of appointing an internal control
team, no reports were issued during the year 2022.
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9- Details of violations and non- conformity | i daha) ae cilag A jal) Glilliall Jualis -9
during 2022 2022 Al o

During the fiscal year 2022 GGICO PJSC has not | 3l® Slillas &)l 480 cuSsip &f ¢ 2022 4l dadl Dls
gernmltted any violation related to the disclosure to adly ALl ShY! i ) £ Lyl

10- Community development & 6 Sl ot L] g Sl Clabilaally Sy ~10

environmental conservation contribution Blaall 5  Aaall paiaal) daall ot 2022 DA Ayl
(Cash and/or In-kind) during 2022 AL e

In 2022 the company did not participate in

providing cash or in-kind contributions considered R od) A kel s 2007 o
= ERT- R ) A 2022 ale Pl A<,
in helping the local community development and in ’ e ¢ il o ol

preserving the environment Al e Llaal) 5 Aaall painall das il (0
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11- General Information

a- GGICO’s Share price at the end of each
month in 2022 comparative with market
index and industry.

Sector
Index

Market
Index

AVG Price
AED

pa

Min Price
AED

dale claglea  -11

Qg Al 0 G A AGEN aga o -
e Ajliall 2022 Al Al gl U8
glhadll 5 & gud) ydija

Max Price
AED

Closing
Price AED

2022/ ¢l

Month / 2022

2099.17 3203.08 | No Trading | No Trading | No Trading 0.119 January sl
2147.25 3354.64 | No Trading | No Trading | No Trading 0.119 February yalyd
2179.61 | 3526.60 | No Trading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 March ou)le
2481.33 | 3719.63 | No Trading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 April Jal
2304.69 | 3347.24 | NoTrading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 May stk
2284.19 | 3223.29 | No Trading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 June EETY
2385.93 | 3337.96 | NoTrading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 July sl
2471.77 | 3443.11| No Trading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 August b
2356.22 | 3339.15 | NoTrading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 September i
2272.10 | 3331.76 | NoTrading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 October P
2343.23 | 3323.96 | NoTrading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 November iy
2366.56 | 3336.07 | No Trading| No Trading| No Trading 0.119 December i




b- Company’s share performance ey plad) Fgadl sia o AHAN pgadd Ol 1) -

- e N
Gulf General Investments Co. (P.S.C) Al Al (el (o) g Uadl)
(G Compae ) DataType v Events V Indicators v Fundamentals v Display v €}

= . . . . . . ) START DATE END DATE FREQUENCY .

L A L L 3287203 Dy v =
* = GGICO 0.00]0.00% AED v

a2

012

131
Jan war ray Jul Sep MNov Jan war
w2 023
AED | XOFM | End of Date a3 of Mar 28. 2023
@ Volume

Data s not avaiiable
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C- Share’s Distributions as of 31-Dec-2022 B LaS (et lual) dsla auish Ol - ¢
2022/ pamss [31

&3..\;_\.4.“ g-‘)"
Total Arab National )
Craat lusal) daSla auj 53
All dual) Auil) gl dal) LS
-, pgeati) 2s . aget) 228 . agetil 22 R agel 22 ) pgeat] 225
4:131.‘.'“ ﬂ:u.u.ﬂ d..-.._;ull d.:._,.l.dl d.:,.a.d'l 2022“”31&)&
No. of No. of No. of
% No. of shares % % % % No. of shares
shares shares shares
ald|
42,58% 762,685,821 3.78% | 67,709,353 | 11.43% | 204,715,716 | %0.79 | 14,163,799 | %26.58 476,096,953
Individuals
alg,s
57.14% | 1,023,635,206 | 1.80% | 32,227,456 %0.50 8,879,224 %0.37 6,648,705 %54.48 975,879,821 <
Companies
SilagSa
) Governments
C..L..uj.-
0.0% 72 %0.0 - %0.00 - %0.00 - %0.0 72
Institutions
g
0.28% 5,012,234 %0.25 | 4,474,900 %0.00 %0.03 502,334 %0.0 35,000
= Banks
£ gaaall
100% 1,791,333,333 | 5.83% | 104,411,709 | 11.92% 213,594,940 1.19% 21,314,838 | 81.06% 1,452,011,846
Total




d- Shareholders with 5% or more shares iy e S8 o %5 O gSlan il Guaaluall = o

AS,al Jla

No. of Shares as

of
Shareholder

2022/12/31
ea geadll L)LY de ganal
INVESTMENT GROUP (PVT) LTD 50.13 897,939,966 =
ERPREWAL
Total 50.13 897,939,966 gyaxall
e- Shares distribution based on volume as of g AR it KAy e il g A
December 31, 2022 1 2022 jsanwa 31

il (n ASglaal) age¥) i o : [ (padleal) 20
AS \ : | A "
o et peecy) A NG 6t Ownership /ag! 4usls
Juall / / Shares owned Shelokl
% From Capital bl
0.69% 12,377,540 755 less than 50,0000«
8.59% 153,863,055 932 500,000 less than/ e J& I 50,000
14.88% 266,470,257 208 5000,000 less than /s il ) 500,000
75.84% 1,358,622,481 29 5,000,000 more than / ;s sl




f- Actions taken regarding the controls over
the Company’s Investor Relations

To comply with the Securities & Commodities
Authority’s circular regarding the controls over
the Investor Relations for listed companies,
the company has implemented the following:

1. Mr. Zakaria Dadi Attassouli is in charge of
Head of Investor Relations department who
can be contacted on:

- Email: investor@ggico.ae

- Phone: +971 4 282 1888

2. Create aninvestor relations webpage on the
company’s website, which can be accessed
through the following link:

https://www.ggicouae.com/investor-relations

The company uses the above link to update
and publish information and data that have
been already disclosed in addition to other
information related to the company and its
shareholders.
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g- Special Resolutions presented in the General
Assembly Meeting held during 2022.

During the General Assembly meeting held
on 28/4/2022,
approved a Special Resolution to consider

the General Assembly

the continuity of the Company’s operations
according to the requirements of article
(302) of the UAE Federal law (2) of 2015
concerning commercial companies.

h- The name of the board secretary and date
of appointment:

Mr. Ali Naji Kaddoura

Date of appointment: 14/11/2017

i- Major events occurred during 2022.
There were no unusual or substantial
events in the company during the year
2022.

J- Emiratization Percentage of Gulf General
Investments Co. PSC at the end of the year
is as follows:

2022: 7%

2021: 7%

2020: 8%

Lagarl) daanl) B lgae o5 A Lalsd) L)@ (5
2022 als B Sadaial)

2022/4/28 )i 3iaiall Luagasdl Dunanll s

o AN by alall DL o dumanl)

(302) a8y salall ciliblaiie Cas il Lghalis dlg)e

ol 2015 ad (2) &) galadyl el (e

Al @ls il
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k. Innovative projects and initiatives carried out . . "
i i s Al da Lo aljalial) Laalls 3
by the company or under progress during the Ayl hggstall o) Al clalaaly ibiatly Gl (8

year 2022. .2022 aladl DS gkl (Gyla

The company has not initiated any |.le Dl alSal il ) ajlie Ll iS4l ai A
innovative projects during the year 2022. 2022.

Chairman of the Board signature . .
‘&—/ SIN Gudaa ) 28yl
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Sustainabiiity Report 2022

GGICO’'s illustrious history began in 1973, when the company was
astablished by Emiri Decree of the Ruler of Ajman. The company was
renamed Gulf General Investrnent Co. in 1990 and in 2001 relocated its head
office to bubai, when it was then listed on the DUbai Financial Market as a
Public Shareholding Company in 2004.

A diversified conglomerate headquartered in Dubai, United Arab Emirates
(UAE), the company has grown to become a prominent player in several
key sectors, including real estate, hospitality and logistics. The company
has o strong focus on sustainability, corporate responsibility, and
innovation, as well as a commitment to delivering high-quality products
and services to its customers, With a dynamic and experienced
leadership team, GGICO is well-positioned to continue driving growth and
expanding its reach in the years to come.

We are proud to present our first sustainability report for the year 2022
showcasing our commitment to monitoring and reporting on our
environmental, social and governance performance,

The report has been created in compliance with the 2021 guidelines, which
includes @ comprehensive content index to aid reference. In terms of data,
the majority of the information disclosed in this report pertains to
historical data from 2020 to 2022, This provides an overview of
developments over a specific period of time.

in terrms of external assurance, we made a deliberate decision not to
engage an external organization to audit our non-financial dato in this
report. Instead, we took full responsibility for the accuracy and reliability of
the information reported by conducting an internal assurance process.
This approach has given us complete confidence in the validity of the
infarmation presented and provides our stakeholders with a clear
understanding of our commitment to transparency and accountability.

Scope of the Report

Timeline

The report covers our environmental, social
and governance for the period from Jan 2020
to Dec 2022, unless otherwise indicated,

Exclusion

The report excludes any financial
performance data.
It also excludes Al
Sagr National
Insurance Company
which is not covered
under this report.

Entities

The report covers the operations of GGICO
Group, with primary operations as a real
estate developer and a operating hotel with
hotel management entity. There are few
additional entities which are part of the group
but due to limitation of data, we would be
covering them partially in few sections, but we
would be covering them in entirety going
forward.

Contact Person for the Report

Mr Ali Kaddoura

Email: Ali@ggico.ae

Contact number: +871 (0) 56 414 1971

GoICO's £50 Repart 2022 ()
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It is with great pleasure that we -announce the launch :::f GGICO's inaugural ESG report. This report provides an overview of
énvironmental, social, and gnvemance (ESG) practices and performance, as well as our commitment to sustainability and respo
business practices. At GGICO, we believe that ESG considerations are integral to our long-term success and the creation of value for
stakeholders.

Our ESG report highlights our efforts to reduce our environmental footprint, enhance the well-being of our employees and communities,
and promote ethical and transparent governance. We are working to reduce our carbon emissions, improve energy efficiency, and adopt
sustainable practices. We have also invested in our employees' development and safety, as well as in initiatives that support the
communities in which we operate.

Transparency and accountability are also core tenets of our governance framework. We are committed to upholding the highest standards
of ethics, integrity, and compliance, and we have implemented rigorous internal contrals and oversight mechanisms to ensure the
responsible management of our business.

As we move forward, we will continue to prioritize ESG considerations in our decision-making and operations. We recognize that
sustainable value creation requires a holistic approach that balances economic, social, and environmental factors. We also acknowledge that
our stakeholders, including our shareholders, employees, customers, and communities, have a vital role to play in helping us achieve our
sustainability goals.

”
| invite you to read our inaugural ESG report and provide us with your feedback. Together, we can build a more sustainable future for all.

GGICO= EBG Report 2022 2
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Company Ownership Structure

Time Hotel
Management
(Services)

Acom
Industries
(Manufacturing)

ELCO

Oil Lab &
O
{Manufacturing) ] 0 0 /0 Marine Surveyors

(Services)

Time Qak Dubai Al Ahlica
Hotel & Resorts Transport LLC
(Operating Hotal) (Logistics & Transport)

Board Members

Mr. Abdalla Juma Majid Al sari | M Malid AbdaliaJimaMalid INSUGRamedRITABdaliaAlSar
& an ¥

s Member
VICE LOairrmen
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What W

ELCO

Emirates Lube O
lubricants and g
to internationa
With its beginni
grown its busi
lubricants & gr
was originally
automated ble
manufocturing
automatic high

echnology, rest
. Additionally, |
filling lines and bl

Dubai Al Ahlia Transport LLC

Established in 1985, Dubai Al Ahlia Transport has been e
transportation of Bulk & Packed Petroleumn, Chemicals and'E
products. The IMS certified and SQAS accredited cnr‘npcmy is'or

the top two petroleum transport companies in the UAE and a mem

of National Association of Freight Logistics: Boasting a flest of 186
units, Dubai Al Ahlia Transport’s vision is to become the Ieudgr in all
phases of the bulk ond paocked p-atrc:leum and chm‘lﬂuﬂls
transpaortation industry.

Acorn Industries

Estoblished in 2002, the campany offers a comprehensive range of
products in the vehicle body manufacturing field. Its manufacturing
facility is locoted In Emirates Industricl City, Sharjoh offering o
comprehensive range of products In the heavy vehicle body
manufacturing field such as Trailers, Fuel & Chemical Tankers, Water
Tankers, Tippers, Silos, Car Carriers, Refuse Compactors, Flat Beds,
Cement Bulkers, Cargo Bodies, Curtain Side Trailers, Skeleton Trailers,
Ambulances, etc

comp

including TIME Express

TIME"ﬁasfdﬁnce,. TIME Motels. The r.':n:u"n|:.u:|n|1,.|r ommitted to
vering exceptional service, operational excellence, and sustainable
. It has a strong presence in the UAE, KSA, Qatar, Egypt, and

Jurdun, and its sub-brands cater tc a wide range of travelers, from

luxury-seekers to budgat—mnsclnus travelers.

(e) Oil Lab and Marine Surveyors

Oil lob & Marine Surveyors Co LLC is an ISC 80012008 & 1SO 17025
Certified Inspection and testing company with wide-ranging
experience in the field of inspection, survey and quality testing since
1982. The commercial laberatary has independent offices In Sharjah,
with cffiiate laboratories in Hamriyah, Fujairah, Ajman and Dubai. The
company is a corporate member of International Bunker Industry
Association (1BI4).

GGICO's ESG Reparl 2022 8




Vision, Mission & Values

Our Mission

At GGICO Dubai, we strive to create long-term value for our
shareholders, customers, and employees through strategic
investrents in a diversified range of industries. Our
commitment to innovation, excellence, and sustainability
drives us to make sound investment decisions that promote
economic growth and social progress in the communities
we serve

Our Vision

To be the leading diversified investment company in the
Middle East, delivering sustainable and profitable growth for
our stakeholders.

Our Values

INTEGRITY
We conduct our business with the highest ethical standards,
honesty, and transparency.

CUSTOMER FOCUS
We are committed to understanding and meeting the needs of
our customers and delivering exceptional value to them,

COLLABORATION

We believe in building strong relationships with our partners,
suppllers, and stakeholders based on mutual trust and respect.

INNOVATION
We embrace change and continuously strive to improve our
products, services, and processes.




Our Approach to Sustainability




Sustainability Program and Key Stakeholders
with ESG Steering Commiittee

We align our Sustainability Program with our company's purpose, vision, mission, and values.
It adheres to the GRI standards and is also integrated with the UN's Sustainable Development Goails.

QUR KEY STAKEHOLDERS

Employees

Board of Directos and Sanior
Management

Shareholders

Customers

Suppliers
Local Communities

Government Entities

Environmental Crganizations

ESG Steering Committee

Mr. Majid Abdalla Juma Al Sari
Vice Chairman

ENGAGEMENT METHOD

- Internal communication platforms, emails, calls, or in-person
meetings

- Employae engagement survey

- Tearm mestings

- Performance appraisals

- Board of Directors meetings ond committes mestings

= Internal communication platforms, emails, calls, or in-person
meatings

- Board of Directors, mestings and committee meaatings

- Customer satisfaction surveys
- Customer relations team, through emails, calls and meetings

- Supplier screening form

- Meetings with non-profit orgonizations ond community group
- Community-neeads assessment through engaging specific
stakeholders

- Through government projects, policies, laws, and regulations

- Partnerships and collaborations with local and international
environmeantal organizations

Mr. Mohamed Ali Abdalla Al Sari
Board Member

KEY TOPICS RAISED

- Training & Development

- Rewards & Recognition

- Work life balance

- Occupational health & satety

- Overall business strategy

- Business development

- Bovernance, ethics, and complionce
- Risk management

= Financial Performance
- ESG Initiatives

- Quality of service
- |ICV
- ESG Guidelines

- CSR Initiatives

- RERA regulations, Escrow regulations

- Energy efficiency and emissions
= Waste Monagement
- Recycling

Mr. Hamad Saif Abdalla Almheiri

Board Member

GOICO's £50 Repart 2022 ()



Alignment with Sustainability
Guidelines & Frameworks

The Global Reporting
Initiative

The GRI Standards enable any organization to
understand and report on their impacts on the
economy, environment and people in a
comparable and credible way, thereby
increasing transparency on their contribution to
sustainable development.

United Nations’
Sustainable
Development Goals

The UNs' SDGs is a blueprint of collective
international efforts to achieve a more
sustainable future for all. This blueprint consists
of 17 overarching goals that are all focused on
environmental, social and economic global
challenges that we face today. The sole
objective of these goals and the targets within
them is to leave no one behind, where all
defined targets are tc be achieved by 2030.




Materiality Assessment

The process of Materiality Assessment is a crucial part of the
GRI standards, which involves collaborating with stokeholders
to determine the issues that hold the greatest significance for
both our business operations and cur stokeholders. This
involves taking intc account input from our internal
stakeholders as well as the priorities of external stakeholders.

To ensure this report accurately reflects the most pertinent
topics, GGICO engaged in internal and external discussions
with relevant stakeholders during the preparation process.

Importance to stakeholders
© e
©eo

Importance to GGICO

@ Highly Material @ Material @® Important

Materiality Grading

RANEK

MATERIALITY TOPICS

Highly Material

& N

o

GHG Ermnissions/Co2 Emissions
Energy Efficiency

Water Managemaent

Wdste Management

Diversity and Inclusion

Govarnance, Ethics & Compliance

I=]
C
]
—
5]
=

Impaortant

Emiratization

Soclally Responsible Procuremant

Cata Privacy aond Security

Innosvabion

Business Community

Board Diversity

Financial Performance and Economic Contribution




Sustainability Framework

Our company's sustainability framework is a strategic approach that provides direction towards achieving a sustainable future. it helps us
identify our key sustainability priorities and focus areas, which are in line with our corporate values and stakeholder expectations. By
outlining our sustainability goals and otijectwes, this framework acts as a roadmap for our business decisions, enabling us to consider the
environmental, social, and governance (ESG) factors alongside economic considerations.

ESG
v

Environmental g@ elelfe] % O Ethical Business
Sustainability Responsibility | ——=> Management

01. Energy Efficiency 01. Employee and Customer Happiness |7 0l. Risk Management

02. GHG Emissions Reduction _| 02.Training and Development 02. Corporate Governance

03. Recycling and Waste Management 03. Diversity & Inclusion ' | 03. Data Security & Privacy

04. Health & Safety T

D5. Customer Satisfaction

[P

06. Community Impact
a. Community Investment for
Environmental Protection
b. Socic-Economic Development
- focused on Education h
3 c. Emiratization [f

] r Pl X e s L TV T L 2T y [ T <] T e
L } “ PRy f ' Pl / ) i 5 / 'J i Fan s .@Gﬁsﬁﬁ#&pqnmﬁzo |
e . _— { 1 f - ' ! / . / i




Ethical Business Management




Governance, Ethics &
Compliance
(GRI- 2: General Disclosures 2021)

GGICO is committed to maintaining the highest standards of
governance and providing our shareholders with 100%
transparency as well as an effective ongoing process for
identifying, evaluating and managing any significant risks foced
by the group.

This section gives an overview of the Group’'s corporate
governance systems and procedures as of this yean

GGICO PsSC
Board of Directom

Nomination &

jf —_—
Audit Commities noe 2

Heod of Compliance
& Intemnal Audit

Cto
Deputy CEO — Daputy CEO —  Subsifiaries
Heod of Engineating Heod of Operation Subsxfiarias

The corporate governance structure provides:

L‘"-‘\

O

%,

Insider Trading Follow up and
Supervision Committes

Additional Committees

Nomination and Remuneration
Committes

Crisis Management Committea

Internal Control Department

Eftective leadership of each company, division and department in group.

A strong/effective framework of internal controls that ore based on
documented procedures

Clear reporting lines that define streamlined levels of accountability based on
a Board approved orgonizational chart

Authority for decision making bosed on o Board approved Delegation of
Authority

Accurate operational & financiol reporting that enables our executive
management team to identify, mitigate and manage the risks inherent to the
industries that our companles operate n.

Sustainable corporate behaviour which includes the reduction of the use of
electricity and water across the entities, with o recyeling program In place in
our corporate offices and projects.

Transparent investigations performed by a complionce department that
functions independently and ig free to documentfreport facts

& documented Code of Conduct & Fthics Guidslines/Policy, including
sections prohibiting eonfllcts of interest Our Annual Compllance tralning
reinforces each employee’s requirement to owvoid octual or perceived
conflicts of interest.

An annual residual risk assessment that is used to develop on annuaol
Internal Audit Plan.

Monthly performance review meetings for each division and corporate
department that includes detalled action tracker.




Risk Management

GGICO acknowledges its responsibility for the Group's risk
management and internal control system including an annual

review for operational effectiveness. Risk fabicoa i ----
management is the responsibility of each employee,

however establishing the risk management framework, T -----
internal control framework and verifying the o

implementation of internal controls is the responsibility of the - eI -

senior man agement. éinver | --

mpact

GGICO compliance and internal audit department verifies that nugnscart

control design is sufficient to minimize inherent risks and that |

each control is operating as intended to minimize residual vors Uricaty — Licay simant Cartain
risks. Specific internal audits are designed to ! 2 3 5
address high impoct, high probability residual risks. Likelihood

Risk Rating Matrix & Internal Control Rating Criteria __
GGICO adheres to its shareholders’ internal control
Develop a risk rating matrix, by identifying the most critical  requirements, including the annual evaluation of each
business processes and the risks associated with each —  santrol to ensure it is “fit for purpose”. Outsourced Internal Auditors
58 '- represent GGICO shareholders  to verify that

established controls meet the shareholders objectives of prof
Ensure that the risk rating matrix accurately reflects m B
cO's risk profile, & with. stakeholdas ocross accountability, social contribution and 1pl::ﬁgnty

gather mmghta and parspactlveu

5GICO risk management framework s
audit and compliance functions as
_Committee. The Committee iden
~_directly responsible for managing ec

- be exposed to, Including risks
4 .mmpﬁqnce, ﬂnqm:e, and inves
'd""'

to develop T
8d.to GGICO's risk

: data analytics tg
__"_-c:bntr ‘effactwanass. '

% .l"'

the risk ru:trng atriX and internal
changes, 4|q he business

)y

""1-.-



Risk Management Process

Risk Identification: The first step in risk management is to
identify potential risks. This involves identifying potential threats,
vulnerabilities, and opportunities that could impact the
organization. This can be done through brainstorming sessions,
risk assessments, and by reviewing historical data and trends.

N

Risk Assessment: Once the potential risks have been identified,
the next step is to assess their likelihood and potential impact.
This involves analyzing the risks based on their likelihood,
severity, and impact on the organization. The results of this
analysis is used to prioritize risks and determine which ones
require immediate attention.

%

Risk Mitigation: The final step in the risk management process is
to develop and implement strategies to mitigate identified risks.
This involves develeping plans and procedures to minimize the
likelihood and impact of risks. Mitigation strategies can include
risk avoidance, risk reduction, risk sharing, and risk transfer. It is
important to monitor and review the effectiveness of these
strategies and adjust them as needed.

Ethical Business Conduct

Instances of inappropriate behavior such as offering or
receiving gifts, entertainment, incentives, or any financial gain in
exchange for improper performance of duties (corruption) are
treated with great severity, and internal policies are strictly
enforced to take disciplinary action against such misconduct.
Our organization upholds a strong commitment to anti-bribery
and corruption principles, which are governed by a
comprehensive and robust set of policies including The Code of
Business Conduct and Corporate Governance Guidelines,
Additionally, our policies include a whistleblower policy to
ensure transparency and accountability in reporting any
violations.

Strengthening our Approach to Human
Rights (406-1

During the year, we reviewed and updated the Group Human
Rights Compliance Guidelines. These guidelines articulate the
fundamental elements of our approach and set out how we fulfil
our commitment to respect human rights. Human Rights
training starts at the employee induction process.

KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 200

202 2023 TARGET

Human Rights Violotions 0

Incidents of harassment reported

o o o o
o o o o

0
Incidents of discrimination reported 0
0

[ =10 = I =}

Incidents of abusive behavior reported

GaICO's E56 Repart 2022 ()



Preserve & Protect the

Environment




Environmental Strategy

We are committed to focusing our efforts on responsible energy and water consumption, effective recycling and waste management,
and reducing our GHG emissions. We prioritize sustainability in our development projects, and our approach includes implementing
environmentally friendly practices such as designing energy-efficient buildings, utilizing renewable energy sources, and promoting
sustainable transportation options. Additionally, we use eco-friendly materials to reduce our environmental impact. By pursuing these
initiatives, we aim to minimize our carbon footprint and contribute to a more sustainable future.

GGICO intends to focus on initiatives for 2023 as below :

v Improving our energy management practices throughout the life cycle '
- ’ of property development from design to delivery.
Utilizing technology to optimize water efficiency across our portfolio.
=
E‘* Creating a long-term strategy that aligns with the Carbon Neutral action plan
8 by 2025.

GGICO's ESG Report 2022 (@
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Energy Efficiency &
Water Consumption

GGICO is dedicated to enhancing energy efficiency and - mmm

minimizing the emissions linked with energy consumption
ccross all our operated assets. To achieve this gocdl, we
recognize the importonce of understanding our consumption
patterns and volumes. Therefore, we have implemented a
systern to menitar and manoge our envirenmental foetprint on
¢ manthly basis. Qur company has palicies and guidsalines in
ploce: to promote environmental responsibility among our

employees and office staff. This approach is ingrained in our
arganizational culture, and we ensure that new employees
receive induction training thot includes environmental
responsibility os an essential component. By prioritizing energy
efficiency ond environmental responsibility, we aim to reduce

Energy Consumption Overview

our carbon footprint and contribute to a sustainable future.

As part of this effort, we are going to set yearly targets for
reducing the energy consumption of the assets under our
management. This objective s in line with our broader goal of
minimizing our carbon footprint and promoting sustainable

practices. By prioritizing energy efficiency and operational

ocptimization, we aim to reduce our environmental impact
while also generating long=-term cost savings for ow
stakeholders.

With water scarcity becoming prevalent

o more issue

worldwide, GGICO recognizes the importance of managing

water resources effectively. We believe that transparency in *Excludes ELCO and Oil Lab
managing water from extraction to consumption is

essential to better understand the risks and losses involved

and minimize our operational water footprint. At GGICO, we are

committed to ensuring that all entities under our operation

have a reliable and effective water management solution in 2023
place. To achieve this, we plan to colloborate with external

consultants to create o robust water management plan that TCIFQET
will make o positive impact. Our goal is to promote sustainable

water use practices ond reduce our environmental impact

while ensuring the efficient operation of our business entities.

Reduce electricity consumption by 4% &
Water Consumption by 3%

G Reporl 2022 @




Sewerage or waste removal expenses (AED)

Recycling & Waste S i

Management

One of the major environmental challenges we
face today is deforestation. Deforestation is
responsible for around 10% of global greenhouse
gas emissions, making it a significant
contributor to climate change, according to the
World Resources Institute.

The production of paper accounts for 42% of the
global wood harvest and is responsible for
approximately 26% of the waste in landfills,
according to statistics from The World Counts.
Our approach focuses on reducing and
recycling waste in both our corporate offices
and managed assets. We recognize that
recycling paper results in 74% less air pollution
and 35% less water pollution compared to
producing new paper. Currently, we are
assessing the waste generated by GGICOs
activities to identify the most effective method
of management. Te implement a tracking
process, we plan to collaborate with waste
management firms. At the moment, we only
possess waste data from Dubai Al Ahlia
Transport LLC and Time Oak Hotel. The waste
produced by these entities is sorted into
hazardous and non-hazardous categories.
Furthermore, our corporate and site offices have
put paper recycling plans into operation,
enabling us to make a positive contribution to a
sustainable ecosystem.

Sewerage or waste removal expenses — Dubai Al Ahila Transport LLC

43,100

55,495

Sewerage or waste removal expenses - Time Oak Hotel & Resorts

ET=T
g,.ﬂ'ﬂ.ji

Waste Management segregated into Hazardous/
Non Hazardous disposal costs (AED):

[l 2021 | 2022

Non-Hazardous Hazordous
11,700

12,675

GGICO has on several occasions ran awareness-raising
campaigns designed to help achieve goal of eliminating single-
use plastics. With the aim of moving towards a circular economy, t
we are introducing recycling initiatives across all our entities,

v ™~ ‘ Golco's EsE it 2022 ()
s I




Sustainability Report 2022

GGICO is committed to reducing GHG emissions as o
central part of our long-term sustainability strategy. We are
planning to engage a 3rd party consultant to start tracking

our Scope | and Scope 2 emissions and have plans of
recording our Scope 3 emissions within the next 3 years.

» Scope 1 emissions refer to direct GHG emissions from
sources that are owned or controlled by a company, such
as emissions from combustion of fossil fuels in boilers,
furnaces, and vehicles owned by the company.

Scope 2 emissions refer to indirect GHG emissions from the
generation of purchased electricity, steam, heating, and
cooling consumed by the company. These emissions are
generated by a third porty but are linked to the company's
activities and are included inits carben foatprint.

= Scope 3 emissions refer to all other indirect GHG emissions
that occur in the company's velue ehain, including
emissions from the preduction of purchased goods and
services, employee commuting, business travel, and waste
disposal. These emissions are often the largest component
of a company's carbon footprint, but they are also the
most challenging to measure and manage because they
involve multiple parties in the supply chain.

*excludes Acorn, ELCO & Qil Lab

GOICO's ESG Repart 2022 ()
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People

At GGICO, we place a high priority on employee
engagement and customer satisfaction. We believe that
engaged employees are those who exhibit persistent,
proactive, and adaptive behaviors, and we are committed
to ensuring that our employees are passionate about their
work. To achieve this, we offer our employees a wide range
of benefits and recognize their dedication and hard work
through regular performance evaluations.

One of our key policies is to provide healthcare benefits to
all employees and their eligible dependents in compliance
with the UAE Health Authority and Labour Laws. The level of
medical benefits is based on the employee's relevant job
grade. This ensures that all employees are provided with
necessary healthcare coverage to maintain their
well-being. We continuously strive to improve employee
satisfaction by conducting annual employee satisfaction
surveys. The results of these surveys are analyzed by the
respective entities to identify areas for improvement and
take corrective action where necessary. Our commitment to
employee engagement and satisfaction helps to foster a
positive work culture and ensures that cur employees feel
valued and supported.

Full-time employees by year of service

=15 yvears

6-1C years

65 46

16-20 years 20 years >

19 5

Total Employee Count - 356 | 376 368

* Excludes ELCO

*Time Qak Hotel & Resorts

Training & Development

At GGICO, we dare committed to invest in the trgin
and development of our employees, as it is cruci
performance in a highly competitive market
constantly evolving customer needs and expe
It is a top priority for us to keep our staff up
with changes in the market through continuous |
and skills development. By prioritizing

training, we can ensure that our team
necessary skills and knowledge to provide eXe
service to our customers and stay ahead
competition. Additionally, investing in our em
growth and development is vital for retaining @
talent and building a strong, dedicated team.

GGIC O ESTReOT
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Diversity & Inclusion

Diversity refers to the differences and unique characteristics
that people bring to a group or organization. This can include
differences in race, ethnicity, gender, age, sexual orientation,
religion, disability, and other individual attributes. Embracing
diversity means recognizing and valuing these differences, and
creating an inclusive environment where everyone feels
welcome and respected.

Inclusion refers to the active effort of creating a workplace
culture where all employees feel valued, included, and
supported. It means ensuring that everyone has equal access
to opportunities, resources, and benefits, regardiess of their
background or identity.

GGICO is committed to providing equal opportunities to all
employees and follows a strict policy against discrimination. We
have a diverse set of nationalities working with us, with our
workforce coming from more than 27 countries. In regard to
gender diversity, we understand that our workforce composition
is skewed. We are committed to better the female
representation. The percentage of female employees in our
overall workforce decreased from 9% in 2020 to 7% in 2021 and
have increased to 8% in 2022. Our company is aware of this
gender gop ond aims to address it by creating

ent practices that welcome more women for corporate

Workforce by Gender
Il vaE
93«:. 7 3,,.; B FemaLe
2{}20 2921 2022

Full time employees in senior management

2020 2021 2022

Total Employee Count | 356 376 368
Senior Management 26 21 24




Health & Safety

At GGICO, we prioritize the health and safety of our employees, customers, and stakeholders. We strive to provide a safe work environment
and comply with all relevant health and safety regulations. We conduct regular risk assessments and implement preventive measures to
avoid accidents, injuries, and ilinesses. Our health and safety policies and procedures are regularly reviewed and updated, and we provide
training to promote a culture of safety. We believe that HSE management is the responsibility of all employees, and we use ISO standards as
a framework to improve our practices and meet the needs of our customers, stakeholders, and interested parties.

High Level Framework

Emergency Preparedness: This includes the development and implementation of emergency response plans (ERPs) to ensure
preparedness and response in case of emergencies.

Objectives and Processes and

Emergency Preparedness

Performance Measures Procedures

This includes the development and This section outlines GGICO's QHSE goaols This covers the implementation of QHSE
implementation of emergency response and objectives and estoblishes key plans, ERPs, standard operating procedures
plans (ERPs) to ensure preparedness and performance indicators (kPis) to measure  (SOPs), risk ossessments (RA), aond

response in case of emergancies. management systems (MS) te ensure the

effective manogement of OQHSE risks

progress towards these objectives.

Records and
Reporting

Training and

Inspections and
Audits

Communication

This Includes the Induction and training of
employeas on QHSE matters, as well as
regular toolbox talks (TET) and other
briefings to promete a culture of safety and
responsibility.

Testing and

Evaluation

This includes testing of ERPs and other QHSE
plons to ensure their effectiveness, as well
as ongoing evaluction of KFls to drive
continuous iImprovement.

This covers the maintenance and retention
of records reloted to OQHSE, including
incident reports, corrective and preventive
cactions;, RA aond SOP reviews. and
managerment reviews.

This includes regular inspections of facilities
and processes to ensure compliance with
QHSE policies and stondards, as well as
internal and external audits to identify areas
for improvement.

GGICO'SESE Re

12022 @)



Positively Impact Communities




Community Engagement

GGICO supports several community development programs.
The company has implemented initiatives that promote local
talent and supports small businesses. GGICO is committed to
being o responsible corporate entity and continues to explore
new initiatives to make a positive impact on society.

Emiratization

Through the Emiratization initiative, GGICO provides job
opportunities and training programs to Emiratis, enabling them
to develop their skills and build their careers. The company
actively seeks out talented Emiratis for its various departments
and offers competitive salaries, benefits, and growth
opportunities.

GGICO's Emiratization initiative has been successful in promoting
local talent and providing employment opportunities for
Emiratis. The company is committed to continuing this initiative
and supporting the UAE's efforts towards building a skilled and
sustainable workforce.

Emiratization as percentage

to total employee strength

Iftar Meal Box Donation

Donated 100 Iftar Meal Boxes to UAE
Food Bank

Rice Collection Drive
Collected 614 kgs of Rice donated

and in partnership with Emirates
Red Crescent Dubai

=&

Blood Donation Drive

Blood Donation Drive was held last 5th
July 2022 in partnership with Dubai Health
Autharity

r

Paper Collection Drive

Collected total of 850 kg of paper
with total of 1520 kg for all TIME
Hotels group - eligible for 1 tree
planting

Can Collection Drive

Participated in the Can Collection Drive
organized by the Emirates Environmental
Group (EEG) where TIME Oak contributed a
total of 45 kg aluminum cans to be
re-cycled.
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GRI Sandards
GRI Standards Disciosure Page No.

s e e T e T T e L T

2-1 Organizational details 4
2-2 | Entities included in the organization’s i
sustainability reporting

LYY ]

2-3 Reporting penod, frequency and contact paint 1
2-5 External assurance 1
25 Activities, value chain and other business 4-5

relationships

2-7 | Empioyees ' 22-23
2-9 Governance structurs and compaosition 13
2-10 | Nomination and sefection of the highest | i3
governance body
2-11 Chair of the highest governance body i3
2,42 | Role of the highest governance bady in | 13
overseeing the management of
impacts
GRI Content Index 213 |Delegaton of responsiiity or managing mpacts|Coveread under Compliance
Report
2-14 | Hole ofthe highest governance bodyin ' 13
sustainability reporting
2-16 Communication of onitical concerns 1
2-19 Remuneration policies 13
2-20 Process to determine remuneration 13
2-22 Statement on sustainable development strategy gand 11
2-23 Policy commitments 11
2-24 Embedding poficy commitments il
2-25 | Mechanisms for seeking advice and raising 1
concermns
2-27 Compliance with laws and regulations 13
2-29 Approach to stakeholder engagement 8




GRI 3: Matenal Topics 2021
3-1 Process to determine material topics 10
3-2 List of material topics 10

GRi 401: Emplayment 2016
22

Management of material topics
GRI 202: Market Presence 2016

oportion ot senior management hirec
local communi
GRI 204: Procurement Practices 2016

Proportion of spending on local suppliers

GRI 205: Anti-corruption 2016
Operations assessed for risks related to corruption

GRI 403: Cocupational Health and Safety 2018

401-1 New empioyee hires and employee turnover

a01-2 Benefits provided to full-timeemploysesthatare 22
not provided to temporary or part-time
=mployess

401-3 Parental leave 22

205-2

Communication and training about anti-
corruption policies and procedures

13

Canfirmed incidents of corruption and actions taken
GRI 206 Anti-competitive Behavior 2016
egalactions Tor anti-competitive behavior, anti-trust

and monopoly practices
GRI 207: Tax 2019

Tax governance, control, and risk management 14-15

GRI 302: Energy 2016
Energy consumption within the organization

302-2

Energy consumption outside of the organization

18

302-3

18

Energy intensity

GRI 303: Water and Effluents 2018

404-1

GRI 304 Training and Education 2016
Average hours of training per year per employee

403-1 Occupstional health and safety management system 24
403-2 Hazzard identification, nisk assessment, and 24
Incident imvest
403-4 Worker participation, consutation, communication 24
on ccoupational health and safety
403-5 Werkar training on occupational hesith and safety 24
4038 Fromotion of worker heaith 24
403-7 Preventionand mitigation of occupational health and 24
safety impacts directly linked by business
relationships
403-3 Workers coversd by an occupational health and safety 24
management system
403-5 Werk-ralated injuries 24

Programs for upgradlng employee siolls and

BB

{zR1:305: Emissions 2016
305-1 Direct (Scope 1) GHG emissions 20
305-2 Energy indirect (Scope 2} GHG emissions 20
305-4 GHG emissions intensity 20
305-5 Reduction of E-HG emissions 20

306-1 Waste generation and srgnrﬁr:ant waste-related impacts 19
306-2 Management of significant waste-related impacts 19
306-3 Waste generated 19

Dnversty o goverance bodes snd empioyess | 25

GR! 405: Dwversity and Equal Opportunity 2016

SR 406: Non-discimination 2016

m Incidents of discrimination and corrective actions taken m

GRI 413 Lol Cormemunites 2016

mm,anddwdmpmgrm
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